

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN NEUROSCIENZE

CICLO XXXV

COORDINATORE Prof.ssa Maria Pia Amato

Top-down processing and perceptual learning: role of the lateromedial secondary visual cortex in a mouse model of visual perceptual learning

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare BIO/09

Dottorando

Dott. Alan Consorti Alan Consorti Tutor

Dr. Alessandro Sale Prof.ssa Nicoletta Berardi Prof.ssa Maria Concetta Morrone

Alisandra See Uiolutes.

Coordinatore Prof.ssa Maria Pia Amato

Anni 2019/2022

Table of Contents

Introd	uction1
1.	The plastic structure of the visual system
2.	Perceptual Learning
	2.1 Visual Perceptual Learning
	2.2.1 Neuronal mechanisms underlying vPL
	2.1.2 Cortical localization of vPL
	2.1.2.1 Changes in lower-order visual areas112.1.2.2 Changes in higher-order visual areas13
	2.1.3 Top-down processing and vPL: toward a unified brain model 15
	2.1.3.1 Top-down integration in vPL
	top-down connections and local cortical circuits
	2.2 vPL in rodents
	2.2.1 Mouse higher-order visual areas and top-down integration 22
Aims o	of the thesis and experimental design29
Mater	als and Methods
3.1	Animal Treatment
3.2	2 Visual perceptual learning task
3.3	3 In vivo electrophysiology
3.4	Intracortical viral injection in LM

Results	41
4.1 vPL in mice	41
4.2 vPL and transfer of learning: an experiment of orientation shift	42
4.3 Electrophysiological characterization of LM activity	43
4.4 Chemogenetic inhibition of LM activity	51
4.5 LM is required for the acquisition of perceptual improvements	56
4.6 LM inhibition causes perceptual learning but not visual impairments	55
4.7 LM is required for the maintenance of perceptual improvements	60
Discussion	66
Bibliography	73
Appendix A: vPL induces long-lasting recovery of visual acuity, visual depth perception abilities and binocular matching in adult amblyopic rats	103
Appendix B: Scientific production	. 130

Introduction

The nervous system senses environmental stimuli creating an internal representation of the world. This representation, however, is far from depending only on the physical properties of the environment. Prior experiences, stored by the nervous system as neural networks, shape both perception and reaction to incoming external stimulations. With practice and experience, the nervous system's abilities to perceive a specific stimulus are progressively increased, leading to the discrimination of previously undetectable stimulus characteristics. The unconscious acquisition of such improved perceptual discrimination falls into a form of implicit learning known as perceptual learning (Prettyman, 2019). Different experimental strategies have revealed that practice improves perceptual abilities in all sensory modalities. However, visual perceptual learning is currently the most studied form of perceptual learning. Accumulating studies have investigated visual perceptual learning to understand the neuronal substrates mediating the effects of this implicit form of learning. The emerging view suggests that perceptual improvements result from plastic cortical rearrangements (Sale et al., 2011). Moreover, recent finding supports the notion that perceptual learning involves global reorganization across cortical areas relying on the complex interaction between bottom-up and top-down processes that ultimately sharpen internal responses to changing environmental demands (Crist et al., 2001, 1997; Li, 2016; Li et al., 2008, 2004). Nevertheless, the current knowledge of this phenomenon is scant, despite more than a century of multidisciplinary studies.

1. The plastic structure of the visual system

The neuronal property of modifying the strength and efficacy of synaptic transmission is a fundamental process for learning and memory acquisition. This phenomenon is known as neural plasticity or neuroplasticity and can be defined as the intrinsic property of the nervous system to change functionally and structurally in response to internal or external stimuli by reorganizing its physiology, structure, or connections.

The most dramatic plastic changes are confined to specific temporal window called critical periods (CPs), occurring early during development. Developing circuits are indeed extremely adaptive, and experience severely sculpts their mature structure and functionality.

The existence of CPs has been reported in all the species studied so far, from Drosophila (Barth et al., 1997) to primates, with a time extension that is closely correlated with the average life expectancy (Berardi et al., 2000). Experimental evidence points toward the existence of different CPs for each specific sensory system (visual, auditory, and somatosensory representation), and even for more complex neuronal functions, such as social behavior and song or language acquisition in birds and humans, respectively (Harlow et al., 1965; Doupe and Kuhl, 1999; Werker and Hensch, 2015).

Over the course of these specific time windows, which are different for distinct sensory systems, a tight interaction is established between genetic patterns and experience-dependent changes, leading to the maturation of an adaptive individual nervous system (Lewis and Maurer, 2009; Weliky, 2000). Among sensory systems, visual cortex emerges as the prime brain region to study how external stimulations sculpt the internal representation of the environment. Employing the visual system as a paradigmatic model, several studies have indeed proven the crucial role of external stimulations for developing a properly functional nervous system. For example, it is now widely proven that kittens reared in an artificial visual environment

consisting of stripes of one of tree orientations- horizontal, right oblique, or left obliquedevelop solid visual deficits (Blasdel et al., 1977; Hirsch, 1985). Moreover, animals reared in complete darkness from birth (a protocol commonly known as dark rearing, DR) display an abnormal functional and anatomical maturation of the primary visual cortex, with a cortical structure appearing immature far beyond the closure of the CP (Crair et al., 1998; Sherman and Spear, 1982). DR animals, indeed, present several neurophysiological deficits including abnormally large receptive fields (Fagiolini et al., 1994), and anatomically immature ocular dominance columns (Crair et al., 1998; Sherman and Spear, 1982). Numerous alterations can also be found in the fine morphology of visual cortical neurons; cells depleted of visual stimulations exhibit alterations in dendritic arborizations and in the size, morphology, and density of dendritic spines (Valverde, 1971; Wallace and Bear, 2004). A total lack of visual experience also affects several parameters of visual response: visual neurons undergo fast habituation, and they have a lower orientation selectivity and responsiveness. Furthermore, both latency and spontaneous activity of visual response are increased (Gianfranceschi et al., 2003; Pizzorusso et al., 1997). Consistently, DR animals show extremely low visual spatial resolution (visual acuity), as measured by electrophysiological and behavioral techniques (Fagiolini et al., 1994; Gianfranceschi et al., 2003). Remarkably, however, a brief light exposure can reinstate both normal electrical properties and anatomical features, setting the path for a late regular developmental process (Buisseret et al., 1988; Wallace and Bear, 2004). Notably, it has been more recently demonstrated that DR delays maturation of higher visual cortical areas, affecting in particular a specific subnetwork of visual areas projecting to dorsal brain regions (Smith et al., 2017).

Even more subtle manipulations of visual experience can affect visual system maturation, as shown by the seminal work of Torsten Wiesel and David Hubel. These Nobel laureates demonstrated that depriving one eye from visual experience, a manipulation usually referred as monocular deprivation (MD), strongly affects the binocular properties of cortical neurons. Such a manipulation is indeed reflected in a considerable loss of neurons driven by the deprived eye and an almost simultaneous gain of neurons driven by the open eye. In normal binocular conditions, visual cortical neurons show different degrees of preference for one eye, despite a large number of these cells receive inputs from both eyes. When one eye is depleted of visual experience, a marked electrical response shift occurs in favor of the open one inside the primary visual cortex. As a consequence of that shift, the deprived eye shows a strongly reduced visual acuity and its contrast sensitivity is blunted (Hubel and Wiesel, 1970, 1963; Movshon and Dursteler, 1977; Olson and Freeman, 1980, 1975). Hubel and Wiesel observed that the susceptibility to MD changes with age, peaking during CP and then declining. The effects of MD can notably be reversed by removing the eye occlusion within CP progression. At the closure of CP, however, these effects become irreversible (Antonini et al., 1998; Berardi et al., 2000; Blakemore et al., 1981; Movshon, 1976; van Sluyters, 1978; Wiesel and Hubel, 1965). Consistently, no detectable visual alterations can be found when MD is started during adulthood (Hubel and Wiesel, 1970; Olson and Freeman, 1980).

Neural plasticity drastically decays as development proceeds, likely as a result of evolutionary pressures toward a final stabilization and maintenance of the mature neuronal structure, and of the ensuing sensory functions emerged from developmental events. Yet, there is no doubt that learning as a result of practice occurs in adulthood; even though adult learning appears quantitatively and qualitatively different compared to juvenile learning (Bavelier et al., 2010). Recent studies have indeed revealed that the nervous system is intrinsically plastic even in adulthood, albeit in a more local and specific manner, likely to retain a certain degree of adaptability to an ever-changing environment, while ensuring a hard-wired neuronal structure for known environmental conditions. Targeted pharmacological interventions and environmental manipulations can increase cortical plasticity in adulthood inducing functional

and structural recovery in MD subjects far beyond the CP closure (Baroncelli et al., 2012; Consorti et al., 2021, 2019; Fagiolini and Hensch, 2000; Sale et al., 2014, 2007). Among these experimental procedures, visual perceptual learning has been proven extremely successful in locally reinstating neural plasticity in both humans and rodents (Baroncelli et al., 2012; Consorti et al., 2022; Levi and Li, 2009). Thus, perceptual learning's ability to exploit unspoiled reservoir of cortical plasticity in the adult brain might represent the neurophysiological mechanism leading to perceptual improvements. Top-down connections emerging from higherlever circuits may exert a pivotal role in this process by their ability to precisely and locally drive the coding efficacy of lower-order circuits.

2. Perceptual Learning

Perceptual learning (PL) refers to "an increase in the ability to extract information from the environment, as a result of experience and practice" (Gibson, 1969). PL involves long-lasting uncharacterized rearrangements in brain circuity that change how a stimulus is perceived as a result of practice with that same stimulus. PL is an implicit form of memory (Prettyman, 2019) and it is supposed to rely on the acquisition of improved abilities after repeated experience. It is hypothesized that the neural changes underlying PL take place in the sensory cortices recruited during the learning task, without relying on the medial temporal lobe (Manns and Squire, 2001). PL differs from another form of implicit memory linked to repeated stimulus exposure, sensory adaptation, for its long-lasting nature (Schacter, 1992, 1987) and for involving a task specific practice rather than passive stimulus exposure (Bedford, 1993; Dodwell and Keith Humphrey, 1990). Perceptual priming is the form of implicit memory most closely related to PL. Perceptual priming consists in any effect of a stimulus on the perception

of a second stimulus that is presented shortly after (Weingarten et al., 2016). Nevertheless, the priming effect is not the result of practice, and it does not imply any perceptual improvement.

The improvement of perceptual processes allows an organism to respond quickly and effectively to external stimuli. On this account, Robert Goldstone wrote: "Perceptual learning involves relatively long-lasting changes to an organism's perceptual system that improves its ability to respond to its environment" (Goldstone, 1998). PL may then be an adaptive process enabling an organism to be efficiently responsive to unique environmental demands.

Even though the great majority of studies on PL has focused on adult subjects, PL should be considered a life-long process. PL can promote the acquisition of perceptual expertise during development (Kovács, 2000; Kovács et al., 1999), and it can also restrain the physiological deterioration occurring during aging (Deveau et al., 2013).

To date, PL has been documented in all sensory modalities and in response to a variety of perceptual tasks. These tasks range from simple discriminations to complex categorizations. Simple tasks include discrimination of visual orientation (e.g., Schoups et al., 1995; L P Shiu and Pashler, 1992; Vogels and Orban, 1985), auditory pitch (e.g., Recanzone et al., 1993; Wright and Fitzgerald, 2001), and tactile frequency (e.g., Jenkins et al., 1990; Recanzone et al., 1992). Complex tasks include discrimination of complex forms, objects, and faces (e.g., Fine and Jacobs, 2000; Furmanski and Engel, 2000; Hussain et al., 2009; Mclaren, 1997).

2.1 Visual Perceptual Learning

In the visual system, practice improves performance in various sensory tasks including grating, texture, vernier or stereoscopic discriminations. Visual perceptual learning (vPL) has been indeed documented in response to a wide range of visual tasks: discrimination of orientation

(Karni and Sagi, 1993; Matthews et al., 1999; Matthews and Welch, 1997; Schoups et al., 1995; L P Shiu and Pashler, 1992; Vogels and Orban, 1985) of motion direction (Ball and Sekuler, 1987, 1982), of texture (Ahissar and Hochstein, 1996; Karni and Sagi, 1991) and of differences in the waveform between two sinusoidal stimuli (Berardi and Fiorentini, 1987; Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981, 1980); detection of visual gratings (De Valois, 1977; Mayer, 1983); changes in spatial frequency within simple or complex plaid pattern (Fine and Jacobs, 2000); ability to detect small depth differences between two targets (Fendick and Westheimer, 1983; Westheimer and Truong, 1988) or to perceive depth in random-dot stereograms (Ramachandran and Braddick, 1973), object (Furmanski and Engel, 2000) and face recognition (Gold et al., 1999).

The effects of vPL are long-lasting; the acquired expertise persists from months to years (Ball and Sekuler, 1987; Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981; Karni and Sagi, 1993). Once learned, the improved discriminability can be retrieved after years without the need of further training, even after a prolonged period of inactivity (Karni and Sagi, 1993). However, the time course required to acquire such expertise seems to be task-specific. For some tasks, vPL occurs within one or two hours of training, showing a fast saturation after few hundred of trials (Fahle et al., 1995; Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981, 1980; Liu and Vaina, 1998; Ling Po Shiu and Pashler, 1992). For other tasks, vPL is characterized by a fast phase of saturation followed by a slow phase during which the performance improves from one daily session to the next until a stable plateau is reached (Karni and Sagi, 1991). For some other tasks, instead, vPL occurs after thousands of trials or even after years, displaying the characteristics of a long-term learning process (Karni and Sagi, 1993).

When simple stimuli are involved, vPL displays high specificity for the features of the trained stimulus, i.e., the perceptual improvement obtained by practicing the discrimination task

is usually lost when the trained stimulus parameters are changed. Specificity of vPL has been currently documented for orientation (Fahle and Edelman, 1993; Fiorentini and Berardi, 1980, 1981, 1980; Karni and Sagi, 1991; McKee and Westheimer, 1978; Poggio et al., 1992; Ramachandran and Braddick, 1973; Schoups et al., 1995), spatial frequency (Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981, 1980), motion direction (Ball and Sekuler, 1987, 1982), chromatic contrast, and for the location of the stimulus in the visual field (Ball and Sekuler, 1987; Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981; Karni and Sagi, 1991; Schoups et al., 1995; Ling Po Shiu and Pashler, 1992). Indeed, several studies have reported a drop in performance in trials using stimuli different from the trained ones. For example, the perceptual improvement in discriminating two sinusoidal gratings did not transfer to stimuli rotated by 90° (Fiorentini and Berardi, 1980). The specificity of vPL for basic features of the stimulus has led to hypothesize the involvement of neuronal circuitries as early as the primary visual cortex, where neurons have relatively small receptive fields and are selective for specific features (Hubel and Wiesel, 1959).

It is worth noticing, however, that transfer of vPL can occur under several conditions, especially when more complex stimuli are involved (McGovern et al., 2012). Specificity versus learning transfer can depend on multiple factors: level of the trained task (Fine and Jacobs, 2000), the task difficulty (Ahissar and Hochstein, 1997), precision of the transfer task (Jeter et al., 2009), extent of training (Jeter et al., 2010), state of adaptation induced by training (Censor et al., 2006), and the exact training and transfer procedures (Hung and Seitz, 2014; Xiao et al., 2008).

2.1.1 Neuronal mechanisms underlying vPL

Studies on PL have strongly contributed to challenge the traditional dogma of an adult immutable brain. Several studies have indeed revealed unexploited reservoir of neuronal plasticity in the anatomical structure of the adult brain (Gilbert et al., 2001; Gilbert and Li, 2012). During adulthood, the precisely organized retinotopic map may undergo considerable reorganization. For instance, neurons within a cortical scotoma retain their responsiveness by shifting their tuning outside the injured region (Giannikopoulos and Eysel, 2006; Gilbert et al., 1990; Gilbert and Li, 2012; Schmid et al., 1996). To date, however, the precise neuronal mechanisms underlying PL remain unclarified. Learning is supposed to rely on plastic changes in specific brain areas leading to long-lasting modifications in neural circuit output (Kandel, 2009). Sensory areas undergo different plastic changes in response to PL. Several studies have reported different PL-dependent changes in adult cortical structure and function, including cortical reorganization, changes in neuronal populational code, enhancement in neuronal selectivity, and global cortical reorganization (Li, 2016). The heterogeneity of these changes may depend on the nature of perceptual tasks and may reflect different cortical mechanisms of PL.

Some of the plastic changes associated with PL involve topographic reorganization of sensory cortices: a region of the sensory area coding for the trained stimulus parameter expands by recruiting adjacent untrained regions. Classic examples are cortical changes observed in the monkey somatosensory and auditory cortices in response to perceptual practice (Recanzone et al., 1993, 1992). For instance, training in a vibration frequency discrimination task leads to cortical expansion of the cortical representation of the trained skin area within the primary somatosensory cortex (Recanzone et al., 1992). Similarly, training in tone discrimination enlarges the cortical area representing trained frequencies within the primary auditory cortex

(Recanzone et al., 1993). Other evidence supports the notion that learned information may be encoded by temporal firing pattern of neurons (Gilbert et al., 2001), i.e., the synchrony of the response in a neuronal population. Learning can indeed synchronize cell firing to the trained stimulus (Mountcastle et al., 1990). For example, neuronal subpopulations acquire a high temporal coherence with the stimulus when trained in a frequency discrimination task (Recanzone et al., 1993). Cortical recruitment and temporal changes in firing pattern, however, have been mainly observed in somatosensory and auditory cortices.

vPL, instead, does not seem to rely on topographic reorganization: for instance, in monkeys practicing an orientation discrimination task, improved behavioral performance correlated with changes in orientation tuning in the primary visual cortex (Schoups et al., 2001). Only a neuronal subset within the retinotopic trained region increased selectivity for orientational changes around the trained orientation. No significant increases were observed in the proportion of neurons tuned to the trained orientation, a result that seems to suggest that vPL could correlate with changes in the tuning curves of specific group of neurons coding for the trained orientation (Schoups et al., 2001). Subsequently, similar findings were reported for neurons lying in the higher-order visual area 4 (V4) in correlation with an orientation discrimination task (Raiguel et al., 2006). Another study has reported narrowing of orientation tuning curves of V4 neurons in rhesus monkeys trained to do an orientation match-to sample task (Yang and Maunsell, 2004).

2.1.2 Cortical localization of vPL

One of the most controversial issues in vPL research is the stage at which the visual processing pathway can account for the perceptual improvement in response to practice. The unexpected degree of plasticity observed in adult early visual stages has led to hypothesize that the neuronal changes underlying vPL could localize in the lower stages of the visual system. In agreement with this hypothesis, neuronal changes in response to vPL have been found as early as the primary visual cortex. An observation corroborated by the high specificity of vPL for orientation and position. In spite of the high vPL specificity for stimulus parameters, however, it has been argued that the perceptual improvement associated with vPL could not be entirely induced by the stream of connections that convey information to the primary visual cortex from the periphery (feedforward or bottom-up connections). More recent studies have indeed observed neuronal changes occurring into higher stages of the visual pathway. Therefore, it is more likely that perceptual improvement emerges from the complex interplay between bottom-up connections and the stream of connections that return to the primary visual cortex from higher visual areas (feedback or top-down connections).

2.1.2.1 Changes in lower-order visual areas

Classical physiological and psychological observations have led to the assumption of a dominant primary visual cortex in vPL. A number of studies have shown that vPL is highly specific for the trained location, feature, and eye. On the basis of such specificity, it has been argued that vPL occurs at early visual stages. According to neurophysiological findings, neurons in the primary visual area possess smaller receptive fields than those in higher visual cortices (Goldman-Rakic and Rakic, 1991). Furthermore, few studies reported that an external feedback is not necessary for vPL to occur (Fahle et al., 1995; Poggio et al., 1992). Consistently with this view, multiple and sound experiments reported that vPL correlates with structural changes in the primary visual cortex in both human and non-human primates.

In humans, a pivotal study by Fahle and Skrandies (1994) showed that improvements in a motion-detection task correlate with changes in the visual representation of the primary visual

cortex. Using multichannel evoked-potential, they indeed recorded significant difference in potential distributions with a latency of 100 ms over the occipital lobe, a result that clearly suggest the involvement of human primary visual cortex in vPL (Fahle and Skrandies, 1994). More recently, supportive evidence comes from electrophysiological and functional imaging studies. For example, changes in an early visual area response have been found after practice of different tasks measuring C1, the earliest component of the visual evoked potential (Bao et al., 2010; Pourtois et al., 2008). These electrophysiological changes have been also associated with retinotopic variations occurring in the primary visual cortex (Furmanski et al., 2004; Hua et al., 2010; Jehee et al., 2012). In addition, an increase in blood-oxygenation-level- dependent (BOLD) signal in the trained region of the primary visual cortex has been associated with vPL training. No changes were instead observed in other areas but only in the trained location inside the primary visual cortex, ruling out the possibility that the observed activation changes were mediated by top-down or bottom-up influences (Yotsumoto et al., 2008). Lastly, vPL has been shown to affect even pre-cortical circuits: Yu et al. (2016) have indeed reported that neuronal response changes in the M-layers of the Lateral Geniculate Nucleus (LGN) correlate with a contrast detection vPL task.

In non-human primates, electrophysiological studies have shown that vPL for simple discrimination tasks or contour-detection task alter neuronal response properties in primary visual cortex (Crist et al., 2001; Li et al., 2008; Schoups et al., 2001). Using chronically implanted multielectrode arrays, Yan et al. (2014) were able to capture the dynamic changes in response properties of neurons in the primary visual cortex over the course of a contour detection task. These authors detected activity changes in the trained neuronal populations inside the primary visual cortex. The results showed a progressive strengthening in the facilitation of the neurons encoding the contour elements, and suppression of neurons responding to the background components (Yan et al., 2014). Moreover, practice in a contour

detection task can also lead to anatomical reorganization of the primary visual cortex circuitry, shaping the axonal arbors of neurons representing the trained part of the visual field (Van Kerkoerle et al., 2018).

2.1.2.2 Changes in higher-order visual areas

Visual information is encoded, at least in part, by plastic rearrangements that shape the circuitry of the primary visual cortex to cope with changing environmental demands. However, learning appears to rely not only on changes in single visual areas but also on distributed neural processes and plastic reorganizations. Accumulating studies have indeed started questioning the classic notion of a vPL process totally relying on neuronal rearrangements in early visual stages. Indeed, these neuronal changes have been proved insufficient to entirely account for the behavioral improvements observed over vPL sessions. In 2004, Yang and Maunsell provided the first evidence of vPL-induced changes in basic neuronal response properties occurring in monkey middle-order visual areas (Yang and Maunsell, 2004). After orientation discrimination training, V4 neurons with receptive fields overlapping the trained location had stronger responses and narrower orientation tuning curves than neurons with receptive fields in the untrained hemifield. Remarkably, V4 neurons with preferred orientations close to the trained range of orientations underwent most prominent changes (Yang and Maunsell, 2004). Since this pioneering study, several empirical evidence has reported changes in the response neuronal properties in the monkey visual cortex V4. More recently, changes in V4 neurons have been also dynamically followed during vPL through chronically implanted electrodes (Sanayei et al., 2018). In response to a fine categorization task, V4 neurons increased their ability to represent small contrast differences. Moreover, learning also altered the relationship between signal and noise correlations facilitating downstream decoding (Sanayei et al., 2018).

Changes in neuronal response properties associated with vPL training have been now documented in several high-order visual areas, including the middle temporal area (Zohary et al., 1994), the lateral intraparietal area (Gold et al., 2008), the inferior temporal area (Adab et al., 2014), the lateral occipital cortex (Kuai et al., 2013), and the fusiform face area (Bi et al., 2014), among others. The fusiform face area (FFA) is a small visual cortical region specialized in face recognition that lies inside the fusiform gyrus. In human subjects trained to perform a face recognition tasks, behavioral improvements correlate with the stability improvement of spatial activity pattern in the left FFA. Interestingly, the thickness of the left FFA before training can also predict subjects' behavioral learning effects (Bi et al., 2014). It is worth noticing that extensive practice with simple discrimination tasks not only affects early visual cortices but can also change neuronal response properties in higher visual areas. Training with simple grating stimuli changes the orientation preference of neurons located in the inferior temporal area (PIT), a higher-order visual cortex recruited for visual object recognition. Single unit recordings have proven that PIT neurons discriminated the trained orientations better than the untrained orientations after practice, suggesting a crucial involvement of higher-order visual areas even in simple vPL discrimination tasks (Adab et al., 2014).

The effects of vPL on global cortical organization are evident in task-related shifts of stimulus representation from one visual cortex to another. In humans, interfering with the left posterior parietal cortex (PPC) by repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) impairs feature-difference and signal-in noise discrimination tasks before training. On the contrary, TMS impairments of the lateral occipital cortex (LO) activity has little effects. After vPL practice, however, TMS interference has opposite effect: TMS of the LO impairs discrimination task, TMS of the PPC, instead, no longer affects the behavior (Chang et al., 2014). These findings suggest that practice can shift the task representation from PPC to other neurons located in a different cortical area. Similarly, another TMS study has revealed that the cortical

locus for processing noisy motion signals is shifted from middle temporal area to the visual area 3 accessory (V3A) after motion direction discrimination (Chen et al., 2016). Therefore, neuronal mechanisms underlying vPL perceptual improvement may be ascribed to the global reorganization of the visual system mediated by top-down influence, and not just to an improved stimulus representation in early visual areas in response to repeated practice.

2.1.3 Top-down processing and vPL: toward a unified brain model

The functional properties of visual neurons are now considered more dynamic than what postulated by the classical notion of a visual cortical hierarchy, in which visual scene is analyzed in a feedforward manner from simple to complex attributes moving from one cortical stage to the next. Computed information at one cortical stage is indeed sent back to the initial stage to effectively adapt neuronal response according to the behavioral task, expectations, or stored memories (Gilbert and Li, 2013). Anatomical and functional studies have consistently observed that, in the primate visual cortex, top-down connections re-enter the primary visual cortex as parallel projections resembling feedforward streams (Federer et al., 2013) to locally modulate receptive field size, surround suppression, and response amplitude (Nurminen et al., 2018).

In the contest of perceptual tasks, top-down connections are shown to change neuronal tuning allowing the system to engage stimulus components relevant for the task being performed and simultaneously discard those components irrelevant to the same task (Gilbert and Li, 2013). For example, neurophysiological studies suggest that the frontal eye field, a prefrontal cortical region, serves as a source of top-down signals to area V4 that are necessary for attentional selection of a target among distractors (Monosov et al., 2008; Zhou and Desimone, 2011). Employing transcranial magnetic stimulation, it has been consistently shown

that backpropagating signal from this prefrontal region to visual areas is dependent on the task being performed (Morishima et al., 2009).

Nowadays, several lines of research suggest that top-down processing plays a fundamental role also in vPL. Indeed, vPL mechanisms are currently considered more complex than the simple processes of plasticity in early sensory areas. In support of this view, recent studies have shown that generalization of learning may occur when multiple tasks (Szpiro and Carrasco, 2015; Zhang et al., 2010; Zhang and Yang, 2014) or more stimulus categories (Green et al., 2015) are involved, and when exogenous attention is directed towards the trained stimuli (Astle et al., 2014). Top-down influence in vPL is further demonstrated considering the effects that both attention and internal or external feedbacks can exert on vPL performance.

Selective attention to trained stimulus features is usually necessary for proper vPL, being required not only to enhance vPL stimulus features but also to suppress irrelevant ones (Vidnyánszky and Sohn, 2005). Mental imagery (internal feedback) can specifically improve orientation discriminability, provided that it can repeatedly induce activation patterns in early visual stages that are similar to those activated by real grating discrimination (Shibata et al., 2011). Repeatedly imagining different vPL tasks (such as three-line bisection discrimination, low contrast grating detection, or motion direction discrimination) can improve behavioral performance without actual physical stimulation (Tartaglia et al., 2012, 2009). Regarding the external feedback, it has been proved that informing human observers of their behavioral performance during training can facilitate learning (Herzog and Fahle, 1997; Ling Po Shiu and Pashler, 1992), whereas random feedback uncorrelated with the behavioral responses can render the learning process impossible (Herzog and Fahle, 1997). In addition, a number of data has shown that C1 (i.e., the early component of the event evoked response) can also be top-town modulated (Kelly et al., 2008; Rauss et al., 2009). C1 changes have been traditionally

regarded as strong evidence for neural plasticity at early visual stages in response to vPL (Bao et al., 2010; Pourtois et al., 2008). More recently, however, C1 changes have been associated with learning transfer, highlighting the hypothesis that these changes could at least partially result from top-down modulation of high-order visual cortices (Zhang et al., 2015).

In a series of studies, the research group of Charles D. Gilbert has investigated top-down processing in vPL by the means of bisection tasks (Crist et al., 2001, 1997; Li et al., 2008, 2004). Practice with this visual discrimination task produces behavioral improvement and alters neuronal response properties in the monkey primary visual cortex (Crist et al., 2001, 1997). Despite the involvement of a simple discrimination, contextual interactions can modify neuronal responses throughout this bisectional task, which was believed to be computed by early visual stages (Crist et al., 2001 see also Ito and Gilbert, 1999). Remarkably, striking context-related effects were found in monkeys trained to do two different discrimination tasks with the same visual stimulus at the same visual field location; primary visual neurons responded very differently to the same visual stimulus under different experimental conditions (Li et al., 2004). This body of empirical data led the authors to postulate a critical contribution of top-down processing even for simple vPL discriminations. To specifically dissect the role of top-down influences, in a subsequent study, they recorded neuronal response after vPL practice in anesthetized monkeys. Inhalation anesthetics indeed appeared to preferentially reduce topdown connections (Jordan et al., 2013; Ku et al., 2011; Lamme et al., 1998; Raz et al., 2014). Previously recorded learning-induced neuronal changes in the primary visual cortex disappeared completely under anesthesia (Li et al., 2008). Similarly, transient chemical inhibition of the monkey middle temporal area impaired perceptual performance on a coarsedepth discrimination task (Chowdhury and DeAngelis, 2008). In humans, a transient interference of the middle temporal area or of the posterior parietal cortex affects the performance in different discrimination tasks (Chang et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2016).

17

The evidence presented so far suggests that vPL gives rise to structural and functional changes at different stages of visual processing. Learning a vPL task may thereby rely upon a distribution of plastic rearrangements across the brain (Maniglia and Seitz, 2018). To date, there is a wide acceptance of the notion that perceptual improvement, as well as the associated brain changes, could result from specific interactions between stimulus-driven bottom-up processes and goal-directed top-down influences (Li, 2016; Maniglia and Seitz, 2018; Watanabe and Sasaki, 2015). In agreement with this view, simultaneous recordings from the monkey primary visual cortex and V4 have unraveled interdependent bottom-up and top-down processes that operate synergistically to enhance the internal representation of the practiced stimulus feature, resulting in parallel increments of coded information in both visual areas (Chen et al., 2014).

To conclude, vPL dependence on different top-down factors seems to suggest that perceptual improvements, just like perception per se, might be mediated by several processes engaging cortical areas specialized for sensory processing, attentional deployment, and decision making (Maniglia and Seitz, 2018).

2.1.3.1 Top-down integration in vPL

Several models for vPL have been proposed, including the reverse hierarchy theory (Ahissar and Hochstein, 2004, 1993), the reweighting model of perceptual learning (Dosher and Lu, 1999), the dual plasticity model (Watanabe and Sasaki, 2015), and the dynamic performance-monitoring model (Sotiropoulos et al., 2018). All these computational models are reweighting models (Dosher and Lu, 2017), in which, essentially, learning is accomplished by weight changes in the readout connections from lower to higher visual units (Weiss et al., 1993).

A highly influential model in vPL research is the reweighting model of perceptual learning (Dosher et al., 2013; Dosher and Lu, 1999; Lu et al., 2010; Petrov et al., 2005). According to this model, vPL emerges from two independent mechanisms: improved filtering of external noise and removal of internal noise. The reductions of these two noises are accomplished by the selective reweighting of connections between lower and higher visual areas (Dosher and Lu, 1999). Consistently, top-down connections entering the primary visual cortex can selectively enhance the contour signals and suppress background elements over the course of contour detection tasks (Chen et al., 2014; Piëch et al., 2013). Training may also refine perceptual representation in higher-order visual stages, which in turn could refine sensory processing in lower visual areas (Kuai et al., 2013).

Another model dealing with top-down integration in vPL is the reverse hierarchy theory postulated by Ahissar and Hochstein (Ahissar and Hochstein, 2004, 1993). According to this model, vPL is a top-down guided process; perceptual improvements stem from a top-down-guided progressive shift in task-relevant information usability from high-order areas to lower-order areas, which have a better signal-to-noise ratio. The learning process is therefore mediated by a cascade of top-to-bottom modifications that enhance task-relevant and prune irrelevant information, leading to a reduction in the signal-to-noise ratio. The reverse hierarchy theory received strong support from fMRI studies in human subjects (Chen et al., 2016; Furmanski et al., 2004; Mukai et al., 2007; Sigman et al., 2005). Learning in shape identification, for example, lead to global activation changes across the entire visual pathway, with earlier stages becoming more active with training and later stages becoming less active with training (Sigman et al., 2005).

2.1.3.2 Anatomical interaction between top-down connections and local cortical circuits

Little is known about the anatomical framework mediating top-down control of local cortical circuits in early visual stages during vPL encoding.

One possibility is that functional changes associated with vPL are conveyed by topdown projections re-entering anterior visual areas and synapsing on horizontal connections (Gilbert et al., 2001; Gilbert and Li, 2013, 2012). These connections extend from pyramidal neurons within the primary visual cortex, whose axons travel for long distances parallel to the cortical surface, linking neurons with separated receptive fields but with similar orientation preference (Gilbert and Wiesel, 1989, 1983, 1979; Rockland and Lund, 1982). These longrange horizontal connections enable neurons to integrate information over large parts of the visual field and give neurons selectivity for stimulus context. Their extent and high specificity make horizontal connections ideally suited conveyors of top-down integration. In this regard, numerous studies have proposed that these hard-wired connections are essential for input selection over the course of vPL. By selecting relevant components of the trained stimulus, horizontal connections may allow neurons located in early stage of visual stage processing to encode high-order information relevant to the vPL task being performed (Piëch et al., 2013). The selectivity of the horizontal connections is indeed dynamic and can be modulated according to task demands, providing a framework for integrating complex stimulus attributes re-entering anterior visual stages through top-down connections. In agreement with this view, sprouting and pruning of horizontal connections have been detected in the trained part of the monkey primary visual cortex over the course of vPL (Van Kerkoerle et al., 2018).

Top-down integration may also require changes in inhibitory cortical connections (Gilbert and Li, 2012). Inhibitory neurons, indeed, show experience-dependent structural changes, both in their dendrites (Chen et al., 2011) and in their axon (Marik et al., 2014), and

recalibration of inhibitory and excitatory balance correlates with vPL practice (Baroncelli et al., 2012). Consistently, activation of specific interneurons is sufficient to improve perceptual discrimination (Lee et al., 2012).

2.2 vPL in rodents

To date, few studies involving vPL have been performed in rodents. A long-studied form of experience-induced changes is the stimulus-selective response potentiation (SRP). SRP is the long-lasting response enhancement occurring in the primary visual cortex of awake mice repeatedly exposed to visual stimuli (Frenkel et al., 2006). Alike vPL, this phenomenon is selective for trained stimulus features (such as orientation, spatial frequency, and contrast), shows a progressive onset over training sessions, and it can occur in both juvenile and adult mice (Cooke and Bear, 2012; Montgomery et al., 2022). SRP acquisition is tightly linked to the expression of a specific class of ionotropic glutamate receptors (NMDAR) in the primary visual cortex: local infusions of NMDAR antagonists or the genetical ablation of NMDAR subunits, indeed, prevent SRP acquisition (Frenkel et al., 2006; Montgomery et al., 2022). Notably, several studies have now demonstrated that inhibitory neurons are crucially involved in SRP generation (Heynen and Bear, 2001; Kaplan et al., 2016; Montgomery et al., 2022). For example, chemogenetic inactivation of parvalbumin cells occludes SRP expression. Moreover, the selective ablation of NMDARs in these inhibitory neurons is sufficient to impair SRP (Kaplan et al., 2016). Even though SRP is reminiscent of perceptual improvements, SRP cannot be used to model this type of learning, as it lacks the incremental component of vPL being a passive view of visual stimuli.

A rat model of vPL was developed by Sale et al. (2011), adapting a discrimination task developed by Fiorentini and Berardi (1980). Adult animals were trained in a two-alternative

forced choice discrimination inside a water maze tank. Rats were required to distinguish between two vertical gratings differing only for their spatial frequency; then, the two stimuli were made progressively more similar to each other until the animal performance reached a steady plateau. In parallel, a group of control animals were subjected to a purely associative version of the same test, i.e., they were only required to discriminate between a grating and a homogeneous gray panel. Exploiting this perceptual task, the authors were able to associate perceptual improvement with long-term potentiation (LTP), a classical cellular mechanism of cortical plasticity. Within one hour from the last trial, LTP from layer II-III of cortical slices appeared occluded in trained animals compared to controls, both in vertical (stimulating electrode placed in layer IV) and horizontal configuration (stimulating electrode placed in layer II/III). Moreover, a significant shift toward increased amplitude of field evoked response was found in the input/output curves of trained compared to control rats. Thus, electrical recordings displayed occlusion, mimicry, and saturation: three of the most commonly accepted criteria used to relate LTP with learning. This finding showed that perceptual improvements in spatial frequency discrimination can be explained in terms of long-term increments of synaptic efficacy occurring early in visual stimulus processing (Sale et al., 2011).

2.2.1 Mouse higher-order visual areas and top-down integration

Decades of anatomical studies in primates and carnivores have revealed a complex hierarchical cortical structure by which the visual system generates meaningful percepts from a heterogenous array of signals streamed from the retina. Once generated, the central nervous system engages these perceptual outputs to guide decisions and actions, ultimately leading to complex behavioral responses (Glickfeld et al., 2014; Glickfeld and Olsen, 2017). Sprouting from the optic tract, feedforward projections define a complex hierarchy into the visual system

reaching the primary visual cortex and then ascending as two main reciprocally interconnected streams: a ventral stream, mainly devoted to object recognition and memory consolidation, and a dorsal stream, mainly devoted to visually-guided movements and attentional controls (Milner and Goodale, 1992).

The high degree of complexity emerging from this system has threatened a clear understanding of system mechanisms that compute complex perceptual representations from visual inputs. As a consequence of such limitation, the mouse has become an invaluable model to study visual processing over the last two decades. Recent anatomical studies have observed multiple analogies between mouse and primate visual systems (Glickfeld and Olsen, 2017). Moreover, accumulating behavioral evidence has revealed that mice display a great richness of visually-guided complex behaviors (i.e., Dickson et al., 2017; Morcos and Harvey, 2016; Prusky et al., 2000) that can be driven by an elaborate network of higher-order visual areas (HVAs) (Goldbach et al., 2021; Jin and Glickfeld, 2020). Moreover, it is worth mentioning that genetic and molecular tools afforded in the mouse have brought to this research field the possibly to precisely investigate cellular, circuity and inter-cortical interactions.

Like other mammals, the mouse visual system lies in the posterior part of the brain (Rosa and Krubitzer, 1999). In contrast with primate visual neuroanatomy, where the primary visual cortex is surrounded by a single secondary visual area (V2), the mouse primary visual cortex is adjoined by multiple distinct areas. In the last 60 years, however, the number and boundaries of these areas have been redefined and drawn several times in the light of new evidence emerging from cytoarchitectonic, electrophysiological, or tracer injection experiments (Caviness, 1975; Olavarria and Montero, 1989; Wagor et al., 1980). The current classification of HVAs is defined by the turning point research of Quanxin Wang and Andreas Burkhalter (Wang and Burkhalter, 2007). By means of triple tracer anterograde injections, these authors

have generated a comprehensive map of the mouse visual cortex revealing the presence of nine retinotopically organized areas adjoined to the primary visual cortex (Wang and Burkhalter, 2007). The anatomical map generated by Wang & Burkhalter have been largely replicated, in its core features, using electrophysiological and imaging experiments, and it thereby represents the basis of our current understanding and investigations of HVAs (Andermann et al., 2011; Marshel et al., 2011). Despite the presence of multiple adjoined areas, the mouse primary visual cortex shares its vertical meridian only with one of these HVAs, the lateromedial cortex (LM), resembling the border between primary and secondary visual areas in primates and carnivores. On the basis of this and other observations, LM is currently regarded as the only homologous of the primate V2, discarding the hypothesis of a single mouse area V2 parcellated in nine modules (Wang and Burkhalter, 2007). The great majority of feedback projections emerging from the primary visual cortex indeed terminates in LM, and this area is the only one, among HVAs, receiving few direct inputs from the geniculate nucleus (Oh et al., 2014). In addition, the paucity of connections that from LM reaches the superior colliculus (corticotectal projections) closely resemble that of V2 in primates (Wang and Burkhalter, 2013).

Recent attempts to understand the functional and structural organization of HVAs support the notion of a mouse visual system clustered in two internally connected subnetworks that are reminiscent of the dorsal and ventral streams seen in primates (Smith et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2012). One subnetwork, constituted by four lateral HVAs, is mainly devoted to process visual stimulus attributes with high spatial frequency (Murakami et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2017), linking the visual system to ventral brain regions implicated in memory and object identification, including temporal association areas and the entorhinal cortex (ventral stream) (Wang et al., 2012). The other subnetwork, constituted by five anteromedial HVAs, is mainly devoted to process visual stimulus attributes with high temporal frequency (Smith et al., 2017), linking the visual system to dorsal brain regions implicated in spatial movement and navigation,

including the retrosplenial, anterior cingulate, and second motor cortices (dorsal stream) (Wang et al., 2012). These two subnetworks also differ for their subcortical projections. Corticotectal projections from the ventral stream strongly innervate superficial/sensory layers of the superior colliculus, whereas those from the dorsal stream innervate deeper/ motor layers (Wang and Burkhalter, 2013). Areas belonging to the ventral, but not dorsal stream strongly target the amygdala (Burgess et al., 2016). HVA projections to the lateral posterior nucleus of the thalamic cluster in different zone in a stream-specific manner (Tohmi et al., 2014).

The transition between ventral and dorsal streams is set by the anatomical border dividing LM from the anterolateral cortex (AL) (Wang et al., 2011), which are the first and second HVAs in terms of connections with the primary visual cortex (Wang et al., 2012). Moving across this border, one can appreciate several chemoarchitectonic and cytoarchitectonic differences, including changes in layer IV expression of type 2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor and changes in the representation of the lower visual field periphery. For this reason, LM and AL are currently considered the gateways for ventral and dorsal streams, respectively (Wang et al., 2011). The division of the mouse visual system in two parallel streams is also supported by brain connectivity mapping and developmental trajectories (Smith et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2012). For instance, connectivity clustering has revealed that two among several cortical subnetworks closely map into the ventral and dorsal streams (Wang et al., 2012; Zingg et al., 2014). These two subnetworks also comply with the neurodevelopmental tenet that 'areas that work together develop together'; indeed, it has been recently observed that neurons in the ventral and dorsal streams follow two distinct developmental patterns. After eye opening, neurons in dorsal stream HVAs have a slower visual response maturation compared to neurons in ventral stream HVAs, displaying a high degree of vulnerability to a lack of visual experience. On the other hand, neurons in ventral stream HVAs sharp their orientation tuning and increase their receptive field size during development with modest changes in their overall response strength (Smith et al., 2017).

The current knowledge on the anatomical organization of feedback projections to the primary visual cortex is incomplete. According to a very recent retrograde tracer study, these projections originate from at least 24 brain areas, but the great majority of these fibers re-enter the primary visual cortex emerging from HVAs and mostly from LM (Morimoto et al., 2021). It is currently held that the primary visual cortex and HVAs form closed-loop circuits that are topographically organized, with primary visual neurons receiving re-entrant projections from those higher-order neurons to which they project feedforward inputs (Gonchar and Burkhalter, 1999; Johnson and Burkhalter, 1997). Nevertheless, the laminar pattern between feedforward and feedback projections is asymmetric, with feedforward inputs ramifying across all cortical layers, and feedback inputs showing high density in layer I and low density in layer IV (Dong et al., 2004; Gonchar and Burkhalter, 1999; Yang et al., 2013).

Feedback projections mainly originate from pyramidal neurons and primarily form excitatory synapses with pyramidal neurons (~80%) and, only to a smaller degree, with GABAergic neurons (~20%) (Gonchar and Burkhalter, 2003, 1999). In compliance with the massive recruitment of excitatory cells, some studies have supported the notion of a top-down integration mainly mediated by an excitatory drive (Glickfeld and Olsen, 2017; Yang et al., 2013) that may be engaged to amplify tuned responses in downstream regions (Pafundo et al., 2016). Nevertheless, accumulating results are pointing toward a non-negligible suppressive role for top-down integration (Bastos et al., 2012). For instance, optogenetic inactivation of LM in awake mice decreases surround suppression in the primary visual cortex leading to increased responses to large visual stimuli in primary visual neurons (Vangeneugden et al., 2019). It is not directly intuitive and currently under debate how feedback projections can locally increase

the inhibitory rather than the excitatory gain since they are mainly glutamatergic and do not preferentially target inhibitory neurons. However, there are several hypotheses that may account for this counter-intuitive suppressive effect. Among others: inhibitory neurons may respond supra-linearly to HVAs feedback, while excitatory neurons respond sub-linearly; feedback projections may target inhibitory neurons that are widely connected to pyramidal neurons or that are widely distributed in the recipient cortex (Vangeneugden et al., 2019); feedback projections may indirectly increase cortical suppression targeting excitatory neurons that locally recruit inhibitory neurons (Angelucci and Bressloff, 2006).

HVAs compute the integration between environmental and internal signals to guide the execution of complex behavior according to the task demands. Complex behaviors indeed require the integration of information across several sensory modalities and the transition from decisions to actions. Consistently, higher-order neurons can code for multiple stimulus, cognitive, or motor variables (Glickfeld and Olsen, 2017). The multidimensional functional properties of HVAs have been initially investigated by lesions study in rats, which share the basic features of their visual cortex organization with mice. Thus far, functional studies have supported the anatomical division in ventral and dorsal stream. Lesions to ventral area HVAs are consistent with traditional notions of a ventral stream involved in processes related with memory and identification. For example, lesions to the postrhinal cortex (POR) selectively impair object recognition memory and cross-modal object recognition but has no effect on radial maze navigation (Winters et al., 2004; Winters and Reid, 2010). On the contrary, lesions to anteromedial HVAs are consistent with traditional notions of a dorsal stream involved in spatial processes. For example, lesions to the anteromedial cortex (AM) erase spatial learning without any effect on brightness discrimination task (Sánchez et al., 1997).

More recently, HVAs have been involved in representing the perceptual features of learned visual categories. Using long-term two-photon calcium imaging, it has been shown that visual category learning resulted in changes in stimulus and category tuning of HVA neurons (Goltstein et al., 2021). Some studies have started applying modern molecular techniques, like opto- or chemogenetic approaches, to precisely investigate the involvement of HVAs in perception. It has been recently shown, for example, that LM and AL are needed to perceive even simple visual features as contrast and orientations (Jin and Glickfeld, 2020). The optogenetic suppression of these two HVAs, indeed, decreased sensitivity for both orientation discrimination and contrast detection in mice trained to perform a go/no go discrimination task, revealing a crucial involvement of HVAs in visual perception. Notably, suppression of another HVA, the posteromedial cortex (PM), selectively increased false alarm rate without any significant effect on visual perception (Jin and Glickfeld, 2020). This last result seems to confirm that different HVAs provide specific visual computations to the primary visual cortex concurring to the elaboration of different visual percepts. Consistently, another study has demonstrated that several HVAs -but not PM- are required for the correct execution of a contrast-change discrimination task. Selective inactivation of HVAs is indeed sufficient to decrease perceptual performance in trained mice. This behavioral impairment, remarkably, can sometimes be greater than the effects provoked by the direct inhibition of the primary visual cortex (Goldbach et al., 2021).

Nonetheless, nothing is currently known regarding the involvement of HVAs in vPL. The results of the present thesis, however, point toward a key involvement of top-down processing in vPL.

Aims of the thesis and experimental design

In more than one century of research, numerous studies have been published on PL, and particularly, on vPL. Yet, several fundamental questions remain to be addressed.

Despite it is widely accepted that PL relies on plastic changes occurring in brain regions coding for the trained stimulus, the precise nature of these changes is still debated. Even less is known about brain mechanisms leading to these plastic rearrangements. Although several studies have proven that vPL is associated with morphological and functional changes in primary visual neurons, it is currently under debate whether, and to what extent, these changes are mediated by top-down projections that re-enter the primary visual cortex from higher-order areas. Indeed, plastic rearrangements have been also detected in high-order visual areas over the course of vPL. Accumulating models and evidence coming from primate studies, moreover, point toward a crucial involvement of top-down integration in vPL. However, a clear experimental proof is still missing.

The aim of the present Thesis is to investigate the role of top-down processing in PL employing a mouse model of vPL.

To address this issue, I have implemented a simple discrimination task developed by Fiorentini and Berardi (1980) to induce vPL in human subjects, and then adapted by Sale et al. (2011) to test Long Evans rats. Mice were tested in a forced-choice visual discrimination task consisting in the distinction of two vertical gratings, differing only for their spatial frequency. The training continued until the animals reached a plateau in performance. To test specificity of learning effects, the two gratings were then rotated by 90°.

In order to dissect the involvement of top-down processing in vPL improvements, I have exploited a chemogenetic approach to suppress the stream of information re-entering the primary visual cortex from HVAs. To this end, I used the inhibitory muscarinic-based DREADDs (namely, designer receptors exclusively activated by designer drugs) hM4D(Gi) that have a high sensitivity to the exogenous ligand CNO (namely, Clozapine N-oxide) and are instead insensitive to the native endogenous ligand (Armbruster et al., 2007). Two weeks before vPL, mice were subjected to intracortical viral injection in one of the nine higher-order mouse visual area, the latero-medial cortex (LM). LM is indeed considered the homologous of the primate V2 and it is currently regarded as the gateway of the mouse visual ventral stream, which is involved in percept formation and memory consolidation. Moreover, the great majority of feedback projections to the mouse primary visual cortex sprout from LM. The precision of the viral injection has been tested by electrophysiological and histological techniques. A group of injected mice was then engaged in the vPL task while LM activity was exogenously suppressed. Then, I have used a classical behavioral procedure to measure visual acuity, the Prusky water maze test, to rule out the possibility that the observed worsening of mouse performance was due to visual deficits and not to perceptual learning impairments. The obtained results seem to suggest that LM is required for both the acquisition and maintenance of vPL improvements.

Materials and Methods

3.1 Animal Treatment

C57BLK6/J mice of 2-3 months of age were used in this study, in accordance with the approved guidelines and regulations of Italian Ministry of Public Health. All the experiments have been designed to minimize the number of animals used and their discomfort or distress. Animals were housed in a room with a temperature of 22°C and a 12 h light/dark cycle; food and water were provided ad libitum.

3.2 Visual perceptual learning task

I used a modified version of the visual water box task (Prusky et al., 2000; Sale et al., 2011). The apparatus consisted of a trapezoidal-shaped pool with two computer-controlled monitors (diagonal screen size 40 cm) placed side-by-side at one end of the pool. The pool (140 cm long) was made of 6 mm Plexiglas, with 55 cm high walls, and was wider at one end (80 cm) than the other (25 cm). A midline divider extended between the monitors into the pool, bisecting its longitudinal axis. The length of the divider set the animal choice point and the visual angle at which the spatial frequency (SF) of the stimulus was that calculated by the computer software that generated the grating. An escape platform was placed below one of the two monitors and the pool was filled with tepid (25°C) water to a depth of 15 cm. White paint rendered the platform invisible from water level. Visual stimuli were presented on the two monitors visible through two glass windows.

A group of mice was first trained to distinguish a test grating with a spatial frequency (SF) of 0.522 c/deg from a reference grating of 0.116 c/deg until they achieved a performance level of at least 80% of accuracy in three subsequent sessions. The two gratings had the same luminance (40.06 cd/m^2) and the same contrast (100%). A custom-made software presented the two stimuli on the monitors, alternating the position of the test and the reference grating in a pseudorandom schedule. The submerged platform was always positioned in correspondence with the test grating. After animals achieved a level $\geq 80\%$ of accuracy in at least three subsequent sessions, for a first group of mice (vPL mice) the vPL task was started by gradually reducing the SF of the test grating. If the animal made a correct choice, the SF of the test grating was decreased by one step and another trial was executed. This procedure continued until an error was made. Once an error occurred, the SF was increased by one step and another block of trials was run. After trials covering approximately half of the animal's projected threshold were completed, the minimum number of trials in a block was increased to four. For the last three SFs of the test grating, the required performance to decrease the SF was always 7/10 correct choices. A discrimination threshold (DT) was measured until the mouse performance reached a steady plateau (minimum discrimination threshold, MDT). In parallel, a different group of control mice (first-step (FS) mice) was allowed to only discriminate the reference grating from a test grating whose SF was always maintained at the starting value of 0.522 c/deg. Control mice were matched to vPL mice in terms of overall swim time and training sessions in the water tank (Fig.1).

When the performance plateau was reached, an experiment of stimulus orientation shift was performed: the orientation of the two gratings was rotated by 90°. For each mouse, the vPL task restarted from the last DT perceived before the orientation shift and new trials were applied in order to measure the MDT for horizontal gratings.



Figure 1 Schematic representation of the vPL task. a) A modified version of the visual water box task was used to perform vPL. b) Examples of stimulus discrimination for each group (vPL and FS mice). For vPL mice the SF of the test grating was gradually decreased from 0.522 c/deg to 0.129 c/deg. FS mice was allowed to distinguish the reference grating from a test grating whose SF was always maintained at the starting value of 0.522 c/deg.

3.3 In vivo electrophysiology

Electrophysiological recordings were performed as previously described (Consorti et al., 2022; Mazziotti et al., 2017; Porciatti et al., 1999; Sansevero et al., 2020). Mice were anesthetized with intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of urethane (0.7 g/kg, 20% in saline; Sigma-Aldrich) and placed on a stereotaxic frame, with the body temperature maintained at 37° C. Animals were also ventilated through an oxygen mask. During surgery, eyes were protected applying a dexamethasone-based ointment (Tobradex, tobramycin 0.3% and dexamethasone 0.1%). A craniotomy was performed over the lateromedial visual cortex (3.6–4.1 mm lateral to lambda) leaving the *dura mater* intact. An electrode (2 × 2-tet-3 mm-150–150-121-A16-15, Neuronexus Technologies) was slowly lowered into LM cortex to record local field potential and single-unit activity. Signals were acquired using a 16 channels Neuralynx device and data analysis was
performed using a custom MATLAB software. Visual stimuli were generated in MATLAB using Psychophysics Toolbox extension and displayed, with gamma correction, on a monitor (Sony Trinitron G500, 60 Hz refresh rate, 32 cd m-2 mean luminance) placed 20 cm in front of the animal.

For visual evoked potentials (VEPs), extracellular signal was filtered from 0.1 to 275 Hz and sampled at 20 kHz. VEPs in response to sinusoidal wave patterns with a spatial frequency of 0.06 c/deg and abrupt phase inversion (2 Hz temporal period), were evaluated in the time domain by measuring the peak-to-baseline amplitude and latency. VEPs were acquired using the responses coming only from the tetrode in the upright position inside the inserted probe (responses from the four contact points were averaged together), at 200 µm of cortical depth. Computer controlled mechanical shutters were used to alternatively close the two eyes. Visual acuity and contrast threshold were obtained by extrapolation to zero amplitude of the linear regression through the data points in a curve where VEP amplitude was plotted against log spatial frequency or contrast percentage, respectively. Ocular dominance (OD) was assessed by calculating the contralateral to ipsilateral VEP ratio (C/I ratio), i.e., the ratio of VEP amplitudes recorded by stimulating the eye contralateral and ipsilateral, respectively, to the visual cortex where the recording is performed.

Extracellular signal was filtered from 0.6 to 9 kHz and sampled at 30.3 kHz. To improve single unit isolation, recordings from groups of four neighboring sites (tetrode) were linked, so that each spike was composed by four waveforms. Data were loaded on the Offline Sorter software (Plexon), and a principal component analysis was performed to score spikes with a high degree of similarity in a 3D feature space. Waveforms from each electrode of the tetrodes were processed together to improve isolation. Clusters were progressively defined using convex hulls and then recalculating principal component analysis. Quality of separation was

determined based on the following criteria: (1) during manual clusterization with convex hulls, raw waveforms in the clusters were visually inspected to check the uniformity of single waveforms; (2) clusters contained < 0.1% of spikes within a 1.0 ms interspike interval; (3) autoand cross-correlograms of the clusters were also inspected to reveal if the cluster contained more than a single unit or if several clusters contained spikes of the same unit; and (4) the peak amplitude of a unit remained stable over the entire recording session. Drifting sinusoidal gratings were used as visual stimuli (1.5 s duration, temporal frequency of 2 Hz, 12 different orientations with a step of 30°, 6 spatial frequencies: 0.01, 0.02, 0.04, 0.08, 0.16 and 0.32 c/deg). Stimulation was repeated five times per eye, with stimulus conditions randomly interleaved, and two grey blank conditions (mean luminance) were included in all stimuli sets to estimate the spontaneous firing rate. The average spontaneous rate for each unit was calculated by averaging the rate over all blank condition presentations. Responses at each orientation and spatial frequency were calculated by averaging the spike rate during the 1.5 s presentation and subtracting the spontaneous rate. The preferred stimulus was determined finding the combination of spatial frequency and orientation that maximize the response, independently for each eye. Orientation tuning curves were constructed for the spatial frequency that gave maximal response at this orientation. Given this fixed preferred orientation (OPref), the tuning curve was fitted as the sum of two Gaussians centered on OPref and OPref + π , of different amplitudes but equal width, with a constant baseline. From this fit, I calculated an orientation selectivity index (OSI) representing the ratio of the tuned versus untuned components of the response, and the width of the tuned component. OSI was calculated as follows: (respOPrefresp - OOrtho)/(respOPref + respOOrtho), where resp is the maximal response evoked by visual stimulation and OOrtho is the orientation orthogonal to the preferred one. Tuning width is the half-width at half-maximum of the principal gaussian. In addition, a direction selectivity index (DSI) was calculated as follows: (respOPref-respOOppo)/(respPref + respOppo). In order to assess OD, sorted units were clustered in OD classes. OD classes were evaluated on the basis of the ratio of contralateral to ipsilateral peak response. More specifically, neurons in ocular dominance class 1 were driven only by stimulation of the contralateral eye; neurons in ocular dominance classes 2 (ratio of contralateral to ipsilateral peak response, ≥ 2) and 3 (ratio of contralateral to ipsilateral peak response, between 1.2 and 2) were binocular and preferentially driven by the contralateral eye; neurons in ocular dominance class 4 were equally driven by the two eyes (ratio of contralateral to ipsilateral peak response, between 0.83 and 1.2); neurons in ocular dominance classes 5 (ratio of contralateral to ipsilateral peak response, between 0.5 and 0.83) and 6 (ratio of contralateral to ipsilateral peak response, ≤ 0.5) were binocular and preferentially driven by the ipsilateral eye; and neurons in ocular dominance class 7 were driven only by the ipsilateral eye.

3.4 Intracortical viral injection in LM

Adult mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and mounted on a stereotaxic apparatus. An incision was made on the scalp, the skin above the skull was retracted and a small craniotomy was made 3.6 mm lateral to lambda. A viral vector, AAV8-hSyn-HA-hM4D(Gi)-mCherry (a gift from Bryan Roth (Addgene viral prep # 50475-AAV8); http://n2t.net/addgene:50475; RRID: Addgene_50475), was delivered using a 10 µL Hamilton syringe with a nanoliter syringe pump (Kd Scienti, speed 0.05 µL/min). Two injections were made at different cortical depths (220 and 450 µm below the pial surface) into LM (200 nL per injection site). For the vPL task and visual acuity assessment, animals were bilaterally injected. The scalp was then sutured, and an antibacterial pomade was applied along the sutures. During surgery, body temperature was maintained using feedback regulated heating pad.

To probe AAV expression, a group of mice were perfused intracardially with PBS followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in phosphate buffer. Brains were post-fixed overnight at 4 °C and then impregnated with 30% sucrose in phosphate buffer. Coronal brain sections (50 μ m) were cut on a freezing microtome and collected in PBS. All reactions were performed on free-floating sections. After a washing step PBS-T (PBS with 0.3% Triton), sections were incubated for 10 min at RT in Hoechst and mounted on glass slides and covered with VectaShield mounting medium. mCherry fluorescence was acquired on a fluorescent microscope empowered with an Apotome 2.0 slit. LM was identified using the Allen Mouse Brain Atlas (https://atlas.brain-map.org/).

3.5 Chemogenetic experiments

For all chemogenetic experiments, CNO (Tocris Bioscience, Cat.No. 4936) was dissolved in sterile 0.9% NaCl, which was administer as vehicle.

Electrophysiological assessment of LM suppression

In order to assess the chemogenetic suppression of LM, single units were recorded from a separated group of injected mice as previously described. The probe was lowered of 400 μ m and single-unit responses were recorder before and 15 minutes after i.p. CNO administration (2 mg/kg) without changing the recording parameters. As control, a group of injected mice was instead recoded before and 15 minutes after i.p. saline administration (2 mg/kg). The electrical responses were compared to single units sorted from naïve animals at the same cortical depth.

Visual perceptual learning

A separated group of injected mice was subjected to the vPL task previously described two weeks after surgery. Once the 80% criterion was reached, mice were subject to the incremental phase of the vPL task 30 minutes after the i.p. administration of CNO (2 mg/kg, CNO mice) or saline (2 mg/kg, SAL mice). Sessions were interleaved by a 4-hour gap to minimize animal discomfort and stress.

When the performance plateau was reached, an experiment of administration shift was performed, i.e., CNO mice were subjected to i.p. administration of saline (CNO_SAL mice), and vice-versa, SAL mice were subjected to i.p. administration of CNO (SAL_CNO mice). For each mouse, the vPL task restarted from the last DT perceived before the administration shift and additional vPL training was then applied to measure MDT under these experimental conditions.

Behavioral assessment of visual acuity

Visual acuity (VA) was behaviorally measured in a separated group of injected mice two weeks after AAV intracortical injection. VA was assessed through the behavioral method of the Prusky water maze task. The apparatus consists of a trapezoidal-shaped pool with two panels placed side by side at one end. A midline divider is extended from the wide end of the pool into the middle, creating a maze with a stem and two arms. The length of the divider sets the choice point and effective SF. An escape platform is placed below the grating. Animals are released from the center at the end of the pool opposite the panels. The position of the grating and the platform is alternated in a pseudorandom sequence over training trials. Mice are shaped to swim towards the grating in one of the maze arms. A trial is recorded as incorrect if an animal enters the arm without the platform. Mice were first trained to distinguish a low (0.116 c/deg) SF vertical grating from grey. After animals achieved a level \geq 80% of accuracy in at least three subsequent sessions, mice were subjected to this task 30 minutes after i.p. saline administration (2 mg/kg), and the VA limit is estimated by increasing the SF of the grating. VA has been taken as the SF corresponding to 70% of correct choices on the sigmoidal function fitting the psychometric function. Then, starting from the last SF at which animal performance was \geq 70% of correct choices, mice were subjected to the task 30 minutes after i.p. CNO administration (2 mg/kg), and VA was re-measured (Fig.2).



Figure 2. Examples of steps for the assessment of VA. Incremental changes in the SF of the visual stimulus are made among successive blocks of trials until the ability of animals to distinguish a grating from grey falls to chance. VA has been taken as the SF corresponding to 70% of correct choices on the sigmoidal function fitting the psychometric function.

3.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was done using SigmaStat Software. Data were tested for normality before running statistical tests; parametric tests were run on normally distributed data and, in case normality test failed, non-parametric tests were performed as appropriate. Differences between two independent groups were assessed with a two-tailed t-test; differences between two dependent groups were assessed with a two-tailed paired t-test. One-way ANOVA, One-way RM ANOVA, and Two-way RM ANOVA were used to compare normally distributed data belonging to more groups. One-way ANOVA or Two-way on ranks were performed to compare not normally distributed data belonging to more than two groups. Level of significance was p<0.05, unless otherwise specified. The size of biological replicates is indicated by the n numbers in the various experimental sections.

Results

4.1 vPL in mice

A group of mice (n=14) was subjected to a simple grating discrimination task; mice were asked to discriminate two vertical (0°) gratings with equal contrast, but different SF. During an initial training phase, mice were required to distinguish a test grating with a SF of 0.522 c/deg from a reference grating of 0.116 c/deg until they achieved a level of at least 80% of accuracy in three subsequent sessions. A significant increase was measured in the percentage of correct choices over the course of training sessions (One-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, F=24.276, DF=1, p<0.001, Fig. 3a).

Then, for a group of mice (vPL mice, n=7) the SF of the test grating was made progressively more similar to that of the reference grating, starting from the SF difference of the training phase (0.406 c/deg, 0.522 vs 0.116 c/deg). Therefore, vPL consisted in the improvement of visual discrimination abilities in distinguishing the two gratings when they became more and more similar to each other. A discrimination threshold (DT) was measured until the mouse performance reached a steady plateau (minimum discrimination threshold, MDT). Trained mice displayed robust vPL, as shown by the progressive reduction in the DT between the reference and test gratings across sessions. On the first session, the mean DT was 0.282 ± 0.016 c/deg, while this value reached 0.043 ± 0.004 c/deg at the end of vPL training (One-way RM ANOVA on ranks, p<0.001, Fig. 3b). The minimum SF difference between the test and reference gratings achieved by each vPL mouse was of 0.056, 0.044 or 0.029 c/deg (Fig. 3c).

In parallel, a separated group of control mice (first-step (FS) mice, n=7) learned the vPL task but was allowed to only distinguish the reference grating from a test grating whose SF was

always maintained at the starting value of 0.522 c/deg. After few sessions, the performance of control FS mice remained stable (Fig. 3d). Control mice were matched to vPL mice in terms of overall swim time and training sessions in the water tank. Notably, no differences were found in visual discrimination abilities between FS and vPL mice during the training phase (Future FS and Future vPL, respectively) (Two-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, F=1.334, DF=1 p=0.346, Fig. 3e).

4.2 vPL and transfer of learning: an experiment of orientation shift

When the performance plateau was reached, the two vertical gratings were rotated by 90°, and new trials were applied to assess the MDT for horizontal gratings. I found that the grating discrimination vPL task was selective for the orientation of the stimulus, as demonstrated by the marked impairment in the discrimination abilities displayed by vPL mice after the stimuli were rotated (n=7, MDT before shift: 0.040 ± 0.004 c/deg, MDT after shift: 0.327 ± 0.021 c/deg; paired t-test, t = -13.084, DF=6, p<0.001, Fig.4a). Consistently with previous studies (Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981; Sale et al., 2011) vPL mice were totally unable to discriminate the newly oriented stimuli when the two gratings were maintained at the same SFs reached before the orientation shift, with mice being able to only discriminate a difference between the SFs of the two gratings much higher than that recorded before the orientation shift. The percent of correct choices fell below the 70% criterion for two consecutive vPL sessions when the SFs were rotated by 90° (gray bars, Fig.4c and 6a), proving that vPL improvements did not transfer between stimuli of orthogonal orientation. Starting from this point, the vPL procedure was repeated, until the animal performance reached a new perceptual plateau. The MDT for horizontal grating was not different from that achieved before the stimulus orientational change (n=7, MDT before shift: 0.040 ± 0.004 c/deg, MDT after shift and vPL training: 0.040 ± 0.004 c/deg; paired t-test on ranks, p=1.000, Fig.4b and 6a).

To test whether learning transfer was correlated with vPL complexity, FS mice were subjected to the protocol of orientation shift. FS mice were still able to perform the task after the orientation shift without a significant change in their performance (n=7, paired t-test on ranks, p=0.125, Fig. 5a), retaining the effects of previous practice with the newly oriented stimuli (Fig.5b and 6b).

4.3 Electrophysiological characterization of LM activity

To characterize LM electrical activity, visual evoked potentials (VEPs) and single-units were analyzed in a group of anesthetized naïve mice through multichannel electrophysiological recordings.

VEP recording represent a well-established method to link cortical electrophysiology with sensory perception (Pizzorusso et al., 1997; Porciatti et al., 1999). To assess visual acuity, VEP responses were recorded from a silicon electrode inserted 3.6 mm lateral to lambda and advanced 200 µm within the cortex, in response to a horizontal grating of different spatial frequencies and 90% contrast. VEP acuity was obtained extrapolating VEP amplitude to 0 V. The average acuity found in different mice (n=5) was 0.402 ± 0.056 c/deg (Fig.7a). To measure contrast sensitivity, VEPs were recorded in response to a grating of 0.06 c/deg at different contrasts. Contrast sensitivity was obtained extrapolating to 0 V the recorded VEP amplitudes. Contrast threshold was measured in different mice (n=5) and the average value was of 9.768% \pm 2.865% (Fig.7c). To determine ocular dominance (OD), I measured the contralateral to ipsilateral (C/I) VEP ratio in response to a grating of 0.06 c/deg. The obtained C/I VEP ratio in recorded animals (n=5) was of 2.504 \pm 0.708 (Fig.7b).



Figure 3. A mouse model of vPL. A modified version of the visual water box task was used to perform vPL. **a)** Mean performance in distinguishing a test grating of 0.522 c/deg from the reference grating of 0.116 c/deg across the training sessions. All animals (n=14, vPL and FS mice) have been pulled together. The increase in the percentage of correct choices with sessions was significant (One-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, p < 0.001). **b)** Improvement of discrimination threshold in vPL mice engaged in the vPL task. The threshold, calculated as the minimum spatial frequency difference between the reference and the test gratings, decreased significantly across training days (One-way RM ANOVA on ranks p < 0.001). **c)** MDT achieved by vPL mice (n=7) once the vPL task was completed. **d**) After few sessions, the performance of FS mice involved in a discrimination task lacking the incremental component remained stable across the training days. **e)** No difference could be found in the percentage performance of mice that have been subsequently required to distinguish between these two gratings even during the test phase (future FS mice) and mice that have been subsequently subjected to the vPL task (future vPL mice) (Two-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, p=0.346). *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.



Figure 4. Orientation shift in vPL mice. After vPL mice achieved their MDT, the refence and test gratings were shifted by 90° keeping fixed the spatial frequency difference. **a)** vPL mice were totally unable to discriminate the newly oriented stimuli (MDT before shift: 0.040 \pm 0.004 c/deg, MDT after shift: 0.327 \pm 0.021 c/deg; paired t-test, p<0.001). **b,c**) Starting from this DT, additional training was applied. The new performance plateau was not significantly different from that achieved before the stimulus orientational change (n=7, MDT before shift: 0.040 \pm 0.004 c/deg, MDT after shift and vPL training: 0.040 \pm 0.004 c/deg; paired t-test, p=1.000. *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.



Figure 5. Orientation shift in FS mice. When the stimuli were shifted, FS mice were still able to distinguish the reference grating (0.116 c/deg) from the initial test grating (0.522 c/deg) **a,b**) No significant changes in the performance could be detected after the orientation shift (before: $100\% \pm 0.0\%$ of correct choices, after: $91\% \pm 0.035\%$, paired t-test, p=0.125). *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m



Figure 6. vPL task. a) vPL mice were subjected to a simple incremental discrimination task until an MDT was achieved. The stimuli were then rotated by 90°. vPL mice were totally unable to discriminate the newly oriented stimuli. However, when additional vPL training was applied, vPL reached the same MDT achieved before the orientation shift. **b)** A group of control mice was required to discriminate the initial spatial frequency difference between the two gratings and was matched with vPL mice in terms of swimming time in the water tank. When the visual stimuli were rotated by 90°, FS mice retained the learned discrimination ability.

a

Single units were recorded in anesthetized animals in response to drifting sinusoidal gratings that varied in orientation and spatial frequency, at multiple depths spanning all cortical layers. Monocular tuning properties were analyzed in sorted units that were recorded by sampling from layers II/III to VI in a group of anesthetized mice (n=6). To better analyze LM electrophysiology, single-units were clustered in 7 OD classes on the basis of the ratio of contralateral to ipsilateral peak response according to the Hubel & Wiesel's classification. The great majorities of all recorded cells (n=117) fell into the intermediate OD classes, with no units exclusively driven by the contralateral (class 1) or ipsilateral (class 7) eye (Fig. 8a). In contrast with the C/I VEP ratio, the electrical activity of the recorded single-units was not shifted towards the contralateral eye stimulation. This difference could be ascribed to the possibility of sampling exclusively the electrical activity of local neurons by single-unit recordings. Indeed, single-unit recordings were most likely not affected by the close proximity of the larger primary visual cortex, whose electrical activity is mainly driven by neurons tuned to contralateral eye stimulation (Porciatti et al., 1999).

To characterize LM properties, spontaneous and evoked responses were measured (Fig.8b, c). Furthermore, orientation and direction selectivity were evaluated calculating the orientation selectivity index (OSI) and direction selectivity index (DSI) (Fig. 8d, e).



Figure 7. Field recordings into LM. Field potentials were recorded in the LM of naïve mice (n=5) through a multichannel Neuronexus probe. **a,c**) Visual acuity and contrast sensitivity were obtained extrapolating VEP amplitude to 0 V. **b**) Binocularity was measured calculating the contralateral to ipsilateral (C/V) VEP ratio.



Figure 8. Single unit recordings from the LM. Single units were recorded in a group of naïve animals (n=6) sampling at different cortical depths. **a)** In order to assess LM binocularity, sorted cells were clustered in 7 ocular dominance classes according to their contralateral to ipsilateral response. Then, to characterize LM activity, the spontaneous and evoked activities (**b** and **c**, respectively), the direction selectivity and the orientation selectivity indices (**d** and **e**, respectively) were measured in all sorted units. Single dots were obtained averaging all the single-units recorded in each animal.

4.4 Chemogenetic inhibition of LM activity

A constitutive viral vector was injected into the LM of naïve mice, in order to induce the expression of hM4D(Gi)-mCherry in all transfected neurons. Histological analysis showed that the expression of hM4D(Gi)-mCherry did not intrude much into the primary visual cortex and was mostly confined to LM, without crossing the border between LM and AL (Figs. 9, 10).

To probe the chemogenetic inhibition of LM activity, single units were recorded in a group of injected mice (n=9) inserting the probe at 400 µm of cortical depth, two weeks after surgery. For some mice (n=5), monocular electrical signals were recorded before (pre Clozapine N-oxide (CNO)) and 15 minutes after an i.p. administration of CNO (post CNO). The exogenous hM4D(Gi) activation led to significant suppression of evoked activity in response to both the contralateral (pre CNO = 2.473 ± 0.690 Hz, post CNO = 0.789 ± 0.112 Hz; paired t-test, t = 3.039, DF=4, p=0.038, Fig.11a) and ipsilateral (pre CNO = 2.559 ± 0.597 Hz, post CNO = 0.415 ± 0.188 Hz; paired t-test, t = 4.180, DF=4, p = 0.014, Fig.11a) stimulation. On the contrary, no reduction in LM activity could be found in mice (n=4) recorded before (pre SAL; contra = 1.708 ± 0.325 Hz, ipsi = 1.681 ± 0.294 Hz) and 15 minutes after an i.p. administration of saline (post SAL; contra = 1.87 ± 0.358 Hz, ipsi = 1.274 ± 0.288 Hz) (paired t-test, contra: on ranks, p = 0.375 and ipsi: t = 0.734, p = 0.516, Fig.11b).

To evaluate the effect of the viral injection on LM physiology, the electrical activity recorded from CNO and SAL mice was compared to sorted single units sampled from naïve animals (n=6), at 400 μ m of cortical depth. Only the evoked responses recorded from the contralateral and ipsilateral eyes of animals treated with CNO (post CNO) was significantly different compared to the electrical responses recorded from naïve mice (Naïve, contra = 2.659

 \pm 0.354 Hz ipsi = 2.421 \pm 0.603 Hz) (One-way ANOVA vs control, Holm-Sidak method, DF=4, contra: F= 3.791, p = 0.02 and ispsi: F= 3.919, p = 0.031, Fig.11c).



Figure 9. Histological evaluation of mCherry expression. To indirectly assess hM4D(Gi) expression, mCherry expression was analyzed along the postero (P) anterior (A) axis. Brain slices (50 μ m) were acquired using a fluorescent microscopy and analyzed using ImageJ. LM borders were identified according to the Allen Brain Atlas. mCherry expression was mostly confined into LM. Scale bar 500 μ m.



Figure 10. mCherry expression and HVAs. Representation of the HVAs along the postero (P) anterior (A) and latero (L) medial (M) axes. The anatomical transition between the LM and AL cortex is considered the physiological border between the ventral and dorsal visual streams. mCherry expression was entirely confined into the ventral stream. No fluorescence could be detected within AL borders. Scale bar 500 µm; inset 200 µm. Abbreviations for visual areas: V1, primary visual cortex; A, anterior; AL, anterolateral; AM, anteromedial; LI, laterointermediate; LM, lateromedial; P, posterior; PM, posteromedial; POR, postrhinal; RL, rostrolateral.



Figure 11. Electrophysiological assessment of LM inhibition. Single units were recorded around 400 μ m of cortical depth in a group of injected mice before and 15 minutes after the i.p. injection of CNO or saline, keeping all the recording parameters fixed. **a**) A significant decrease in LM activity was detected after CNO administration (contralateral eye: paired t-test, p=0.038; ipsilateral eye: paired t-test, p = 0.014). **b**) On the contrary, no changes in LM activity were detected after saline administration in a separated group of injected mice (contralateral eye: paired t-test, p = 0.375; ipsilateral eye: paired t-test, p = 0.516). **c**) After the i.p. administration, the LM activity recorded in CNO administered mice, but not saline administered mice, was significantly different from that of naïve mice (One-way ANOVA, contralateral eye: p = 0.02 and ipsilateral eye: p = 0.031). Single dots were obtained averaging all the single-units recorded in each animal. *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.

4.5 LM is required for the acquisition of perceptual improvements

In order to test whether top-down processing is engaged in the acquisition of perceptual improvements, I manipulated LM activity during the vPL task. To this end, LM neurons were inhibited by expressing hM4D(Gi) via bilateral stereotaxic injections.

A group of mice (n=14) was required to learn the vPL task two weeks after hM4D(Gi) injection, an inhibitory DREADD. Once the 80% criterion was achieved, some mice were subjected to the incremental phase of the discrimination task 30 minutes after i.p. administration of CNO (n=7, CNO mice), while other mice were tested on the same task 30 minutes after i.p. administration of saline (n=7, SAL mice). The performance plateau reached by CNO mice $(0.185 \pm 0.033 \text{ c/deg})$ was significantly different from that achieved by SAL mice $(0.04 \pm$ 0.005), with the former group of animals displaying a robust learning impairment throughout the vPL task (Two-way RM ANOVA on ranks, Holm-Sidak method, p <0.001, Fig.12a). The perceptual learning performance of CNO mice, but not of SAL mice, was consistently different from the performance displayed by naïve animals subjected to the same vPL task (Two-way RM ANOVA on ranks, Holm-Sidak method, vPL mice vs CNO mice: p <0.001; vPL mice vs SAL mice p= 0.535; SAL mice vs CNO mice: p<0.001; Fig. 12b); with CNO mice reaching a significantly higher MDT comparted to SAL and vPL mice (One way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's method, p < 0.05). Notably, no differences could be found between mice that were administered with CNO (future CNO mice) or saline (future SAL mice) during the learning phase of the discrimination task (Two-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, F=0.158, DF=1, p = 0.696, Fig13a).

Lastly, to rule out the possibility that the observed impairment could be ascribed to a learning deficit due to the surgical procedure, the learning capabilities of injected mice (n=14) were compared to those of naïve mice (n=14). No difference could be found between these two

groups of mice over the course of the learning phase of the vPL task (Two-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, F=0.997, DF=1, p = 0.324, Fig. 13b).

Taken together, these results show that interfering with the neurophysiological activity of LM leads to a marked impairment in vPL abilities.

4.6 LM inhibition causes perceptual learning but not visual impairments

To rule out the possibility that the deficit observed in CNO mice was due to a visual impairment caused by interrupting the interaction between LM and the primary visual cortex, visual acuity (VA) was measured while inactivating LM. VA was assessed through the Prusky water maze test, employing the exact same apparatus used for the vPL task.

A separated group of mice (n=8) was required to distinguish sinusoidal gratings from a homogeneous grey two weeks after the bilateral injection of hM4D(Gi). Mice were first trained with a low SF and then tested for their capability to distinguish higher SFs 30 minutes after i.p. administration of saline. VA was calculated as the SF corresponding to 70% of correct choices on the sigmoidal function fitting the psychometric function. At the end of this first part of the procedure, the averaged VA was of 0.514 ± 0.005 c/deg. Then, mice were retested in the water task 30 minutes after i.p. administration of CNO, starting from the last achieved SF (the last SF at which the animal performance fulfilled the criterion of at least 70% of correct choices). The VA measured in the same group of mice under this new experimental condition was of 0.516 ± 0.005 c/deg. No VA differences could therefore be found in mice required to perform the exact same visual task when suppressing LM activity (paired t-test, DF=7, t =-0.678, p = 0.519, Fig.14). Thus, this result suggests that the chemogenetic inhibition of LM activity has no impact on visual abilities.



Figure 12. vPL and LM inhibition. A group of injected mice was subjected to the vPL task 30 minutes after the i.p. administration of either CNO (CNO mice) or saline (SAL mice) before each session. **a**) CNO mice showed a strong vPL impairment during the perceptual task compared to SAL mice (Two-way RM ANOVA on ranks, Holm-Sidak method, p <0.001). **b**) Compared to vPL and SAL mice, the perceptual performance of CNO mice was altered throughout the vPL task (Two-way RM ANOVA on ranks, Holm-Sidak method, p <0.001). **c**NO mice indeed displayed a different vPL progression and achieved a higher MDT. *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.



Figure 13. Learning ability in injected mice. a) The discrimination abilities of CNO and SAL mice were different during the incremental phase of the vPL task, but not during the training phase (Two-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, p = 0.696. **b**) To evaluate the effects of the surgical procedure on learning capability, the learning performance during the training phase of injected mice (n=14, CNO and SAL mice pulled together) was compared to that of naïve mice (n=14, vPL and FS mice pulled together). No difference could be found between these two groups of animals (Two-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, p=0.324). *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.



Figure 14. Assessment of visual acuity in a group of injected mice. Visual acuity (VA) was measured in a group of injected mice to evaluate whether the LM inhibition caused visual impairment. a) VA was measured using the water maze test. Example of sigmoidal extrapolations of psychometric curves used to calculate VA are reported on the left panel. No significant differences could be found in the VAs measured before and after the chemogenetic inhibition of LM (paired t-test, p = 0.519). b) Prusky water task progression during the i.p. administration of saline (light blue panel) or CNO (orange panel). *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.

4.7 LM is required for the maintenance of perceptual improvements

To get further insight into the role of LM in vPL, CNO and SAL mice were subjected to an experiment of administration shift (AS). After they reached their perceptual plateau, CNO mice were subjected to i.p. administration of saline before additional perceptual practice (CNO SAL mice), and vice-versa, SAL mice were subjected to i.p. administration of CNO before additional perceptual practice (SAL_CNO mice) (Fig.15). CNO_SAL and SAL_CNO mice were both asked to perform additional vPL training 30 minutes after the administration of the new treatment. When LM was released from chemogenetic inhibition, CNO_SAL mice displayed a progressive improvement in the vPL task (Fig. 16a and 18a). Immediately after the AS, the DT of CNO_SAL mice was not different then the last DT reached after the last i.p. administration of CNO (paired t-test, DF=6, t = 2.071, p = 0.084, Fig. 16b); afterwards, CNO_SAL mice reached a new MDT (0.047 ± 0.003 c/deg) that was significantly lower than the MDT reached before the AS (paired t-test, DF=6, t = 4.046, p = 0.007, Fig. 16c) and no longer different with respect to that achieved by vPL and SAL mice (One-way ANOVA, DF=2, F=0.523, p=0.601). On the other hand, SAL CNO mice were totally unable to perform the vPL task for two consecutive sessions when LM activity was suppressed by the AS (gray bars, Fig. 17a and 18b). SAL_CNO mice were able to only discriminate a difference between the SFs of the two gratings much higher than that recorded before the AS (0.406 \pm 0.0 c/deg, paired-t test, DF=6, t = -78.849, p < 0.001, Fig. 17b). When additional vPL practice was applied starting from this point, SAL_CNO mice reached a new MDT (0.323±0.029 c/deg) (Fig.17a, 18b). This MDT was significantly higher than the MDT achieved before the AS (paired-t test on ranks, p = 0.016, Fig.17c) and was no longer similar to the MDT achieved by vPL mice (t-test on ranks, p <0.001).

To sum up, the MDT of CNO but not that of SAL mice was significantly different compared to the MDT of vPL before the AS (One-way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's Method, p < 0.001, Fig. 19b); after the AS, instead, the MDT of SAL_CNO but not that of CNO_SAL mice was significantly different compared to the MDT of vPL (One-way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's Method, p <0.001, Fig. 19c). Notably, the MDT achieved by SAL_CNO mice was also significantly higher than the MDT achieved by CNO mice (0.185 \pm 0.033 c/deg) (t-test on ranks, p = 0.026, Fig. 19d). This last result strongly suggests that major perceptual impairments can be elicited when LM activity is impaired after vPL practice (Fig. 19a).



Figure 15. Administration shift. Schematic representation of the administration shift procedure.



Figure 16. Administration shift in CNO mice. a) When LM was released from the chemogenetic inhibition, the group of former CNO mice (now CNO_SAL mice) underwent a progressive vPL improvement. b) Immediately after the administration shift no statistically significant changes could be detected in the performance of CNO_SAL mice (paired t-test, p = 0.084). c) When additional vPL practice was applied, CNO_SAL mice showed a significant improvement in the achieved MDT (paired t-test, p = 0.007). *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.



Figure 17. Administration shift in SAL mice. a) Marked perceptual impairment was detected in the vPL performance in the group of former SAL mice (now SAL_CNO mice) when LM was inhibited, with mice being completely unable to perform the vPL task for two consecutive sessions. b) After the administration shift, SAL_CNO mice could only discriminate a significantly higher DT (paired-t test, p < 0.001) (c) When additional vPL practice was applied, CNO_SAL mice achieved a new MDT that was still higher than the MDT measured during saline administration (paired-t test, p=0.016). *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.



Figure 18. Roles of LM in vPL. a) The neurophysiological activity of LM is required for the proper acquisition of perceptual improvements. **b)** LM is also required after the emergence of perceptual improvement for a proper vPL execution. These two results suggest that LM is required for both the acquisition and maintenance of vPL improvements.

64



Figure 19. LM inhibition and perceptual impairments. a) vPL learning curves in CNO and SAL mice before and after the administration shift. b) Before the administration shift, the MDT of CNO mice was different compared to those of vPL and SAL mice (One-way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's Method, p <0.001). c) After the administration shift, the MDT of SAL_CNO mice was different compared to those of vPL and CNO_SAL mice (One-way ANOVA on ranks, Dunn's Method, p <0.001). d) Surprisingly, the MDT achieved by SAL_CNO mice was significantly higher than that achieved by CNO mice (t-test, p = 0.026), suggesting that major perceptual impairments can be elicited interfering with LM activity after the acquisition of perceptual improvements. *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.

Discussion

Recent evidence supports the notion that HVAs are crucially involved in visual perception (Goldbach et al., 2021; Jin and Glickfeld, 2020). In the contest of vPL research, a previous study has shown that, in monkeys, when top-down projections are non-selectively inactivated by inhaled anesthesia the perceptual improvements emerged from vPL practice are severely compromised, a result that clearly suggests the involvement of higher area computations in this implicit form of learning (Li et al., 2008). Nonetheless, a direct experimental analysis probing the role of top-down processing in vPL was still missing. Indeed, the use of anesthesia does not allow a rigorous spatial control of top-down connections or chronic interference with higher-order computations throughout the vPL task. Here, I investigated the involvement of top-down processing in perceptual learning by directly manipulating the neurophysiological activity of the higher-order area LM over the course of a simple discrimination vPL task employing the mouse as experimental model.

With the aim of providing an answer to this open issue, I studied vPL in a mouse model, adapting a visual discrimination task that has been previously described (Fiorentini and Berardi, 1980; Sale et al., 2011) and extensively studied in humans and rats (Baroncelli et al., 2012; Bonaccorsi et al., 2014; Consorti et al., 2022; Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981, 1980; Sale et al., 2011). I showed that a robust and reliable vPL can be induced in the visual cortex of adult mice, with all trained animals reaching a steady perceptual plateau after few days of practice. The observed mean MDT achieved by trained mice was higher than the perceptual threshold previously measured in Long Evans rats (Sale et al., 2011), likely reflecting the differences in term of visual abilities between these two species of rodents (Prusky et al., 2000).

I demonstrated that, in adult mice trained with simple sinusoidal gratings, the visual perceptual improvements acquired as a result of practice with vertical gratings do not transfer to horizontal stimuli. Consistently, previous studies have already proven that perceptual improvements in visual discrimination return to baseline levels when the stimulus parameters used during vPL practice were altered (Ball and Sekuler, 1987; Fahle et al., 1995; Fahle and Edelman, 1993; Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981; Sale et al., 2011). It has been indeed shown that the effects of practice in discriminating the SF difference between simple sinusoidal gratings do not transfer when the visual stimuli are rotated by 90° (Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981; Sale et al., 2011), but only when the sinusoidal gratings are rotated by an angle of less than 45° from the orientation used in vPL trials (Fiorentini and Berardi, 1981). I also demonstrated that transfer of learning to orthogonal stimuli could instead be observed in mice trained with an easy version of the employed vPL task (i.e., animals were required to only distinguish between the two visual stimuli used for the training phase (first-step training)). The obtained results provide support to the hypothesis that vPL specificity depends on the complexity of the perceptual task (Ahissar and Hochstein, 1997). In humans, it has been consistently shown that with easy task conditions, learning generalizes across orientation and retinal position, but as task difficulty increases, vPL becomes more specific with respect to both orientation and position (Ahissar and Hochstein, 1997).

The perceptual improvements in distinguishing visual gratings of progressively close spatial frequencies have been shown to rely on long-term potentiation of synaptic efficacy within the primary visual cortex (Sale et al., 2011). The notion of a primary visual cortex crucially involved in this vPL task is also supported by the behavioral evidence that vPL effects do not transfer to orthogonal stimuli. However, the emergence of local plastic rearrangements inside the circuitry of the primary visual cortex might be driven by, or might at least require, the activity of higher stages in visual cortical processing. Indeed, in order to solve the vPL task inside the water tank, trained mice most probably need to rely on an integrated information that is elaborated from the neuronal computations occurring in higher-order visual stages, in which information concerning the context and reward components of the vPL task can be computed. In particular, trained mice probably need to retrieve cortical representations of prior information regarding the vPL task, a type of information that is encoded in higher stage circuitries (Glickfeld and Olsen, 2017).

To test this hypothesis, I interfered with LM activity by an exogenous supply of CNO before each vPL session. Trained mice showed substantial perceptual learning impairments throughout the vPL task. Indeed, when LM activity was functionally severed from the primary visual cortex, mice displayed a slower progression in the discrimination task and a significant deficit in the achieved MDT compared to controls with functional LM. Notably, the perceptual impairments can be completely reversed by releasing LM from the chemogenetic inhibition. These results strongly suggest that LM plays a fundamental role in the acquisition of vPL.

In a separate group of mice, I interfered with LM activity when the vPL task was already completed. I showed that major perceptual learning impairments can be induced manipulating the LM activity at the end of the vPL task, with all trained mice being able to only distinguish the difference in spatial frequencies of the stimuli previously used in the training trails. Even when additional vPL practice was applied, the previously detected perceptual improvements in terms of discrimination threshold could no longer be restored. These results indicate that LM exerts a key role also in the maintenance of vPL.

It is worth noticing that the observed impairments induced by blockade of LM activity are likely not dependent on visual deficits. Indeed, I proved that treated mice were perfectly capable of discriminating a grating of progressively high SF from a gray stimulus when the LM activity was remotely inhibited, with no effect on visual acuity. Notably, the obtained values of visual acuity were in line with previous measurements of naïve mice engaged in the same behavioral task (Prusky et al., 2000). This evidence strongly suggests that the activity of the primary visual cortex was not significantly affected by the cortical spreading of the inhibitory DREADD, despite the close proximity of this area to LM borders. The unfeasibility of precisely constrain the AAV spatial expression is indeed notoriously considered the major flaw of the chemogenetic technique.

The mouse primary visual cortex is surrounded by at least nine retinotopically organized HVAs. I decided to target the chemogenetic inhibition to LM activity based on previously obtained anatomical and physiological results. Primarily, the great majority of feedback projections enter the primary visual cortex sprouting from LM (Morimoto et al., 2021). Thus, the neuronal computations elaborated from this specific HVA could represent the major source of top-down information able to drive the activity of primary visual neurons. Additionally, LM is currently considered the gateway of the mouse ventral stream (Wang et al., 2011). The ventral stream represents a highly interconnected network of four lateral HVAs whose projections find their prime target in a cluster of ventral structures implicated in learning and memory processes (Wang et al., 2012). Previous studies have shown that anatomical lesions to visual areas belonging to this pathway can severely impair perception and object identification (Tees, 1999; Winters et al., 2004; Winters and Reid, 2010). Lastly, anatomical evidence suggests that LM is the homologous of the primate V2 in the mouse visual system (Wang and Burkhalter, 2007). As mouse homologous of V2, LM receives the large majority of projections from the primary visual cortex (Wang et al., 2012) and might therefore represents the first higher cortical stage in which visual associations start to emerge.

Even though I targeted the chemogenetic inhibition on this visual area, the possibility that other HVAs could have a role in vPL cannot be excluded and certainly deserve future
investigation. In particular, I cannot exclude that similar results might be obtained interfering with the physiological activity of other visual areas along the ventral streams. For example, several studies have demonstrated that the postrhinal cortex (POR) is required for contextual scene representation (Furtak et al., 2012), encodes the association between visual cue and reward (Burgess et al., 2016) and the internal representation linking objects to places (Furtak et al., 2012). To solve the task, trained mice have to orient their movement and navigate inside the arena toward the reference grating in order to reach the hidden platform completing a task trial. Therefore, a substantial role of dorsal stream areas for the correct execution of this task could not be discarded. On the other hand, it is equally plausible that LM might act as a central hub in the visual network with the great majority of information that are integrated by different HVAs streaming toward the primary visual cortex via the LM projections. LM is indeed the first HVA in terms of reciprocal interconnections with the primary visual cortex (Wang et al., 2012).

Further experiments are also needed to clarify how LM can modulate neuronal firing within the primary visual cortex in response to vPL. According to anatomical studies, feedback projections are mostly excitatory by nature (Gonchar and Burkhalter, 2003, 1999). Therefore, it is possible that the plastic changes occurring inside the primary visual cortex emerge under the influence of top-down inputs that directly potentiate the response of selected primary visual neurons probably engaging the horizontal connections (Gilbert et al., 2001; Gilbert and Li, 2013).

Recent studies support the notion of a not negligible and anatomically counter-intuitive role of the inhibitory system in top-down integration (Bastos et al., 2012; Nurminen et al., 2018; Vangeneugden et al., 2019). A prime role of the GABAergic system in vPL finds also support in biochemical assays showing a substantial reduction in the inhibitory tone after vPL

(Baroncelli et al., 2012). Specific GABAergic interneurons are targeted by feedback projections from LM (Gonchar and Burkhalter, 2003). However, the potential implication of given inhibitory interneurons in top-down processing remains to be clarified. The main GABAergic target of feedback projections is the class of parvalbumin (PV) interneurons, which constitute the largest proportion of inhibitory neurons (Tremblay et al., 2016; van Versendaal and Levelt, 2016). Most PV neurons have wide dendritic tree and predominantly innervate pyramidal neurons providing the main source of intracortical somata inhibition (Somogyi et al., 1983). PV interneurons are known for the precise control that they can exert on the spike timing of neighboring excitatory neurons (Pouille and Scanziani, 2001; Wehr and Zador, 2003). Therefore, this class of interneurons might be recruited during vPL to regulate the firing of the specific cluster of pyramidal neurons trained during the perceptual task, improving the evoked response of selected excitatory neurons within the electrical noise of the primary visual cortex. However, some evidence suggests that the synapses between feedback projections and PV neurons are small and located on thin dendrites, at least in the rodent visual cortex (Gonchar and Burkhalter, 1999; Yamashita et al., 2003). The excitation provided by feedback projection onto PV neurons might therefore be insufficient to precisely drive the activity of primary visual neurons in response to top-down information (Shao and Burkhalter, 1999). Feedback projections are also strongly connected with inhibitory cells located in the superficial layers of the primary visual cortex. Thus, the potential involvement of GABAergic neurons that are most numerous in these cortical regions, like vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) interneurons, cannot be excluded. This hypothesis could be in line with the emerging notion that sees the superficial cortical layers crucially involved in mediating the integration of top-down inputs (Ibrahim et al., 2021; Schuman et al., 2021). Differently from PV cells, VIP interneurons are typically bipolar and are specialized in inhibiting other interneuron subtypes (Tremblay et al., 2016; van Versendaal and Levelt, 2016). In this scenario, top-down integration might be mediated by specific rearrangements within the GABAergic circuitry that eventually regulate the activity of selected pyramidal neurons. However, an experiment of selective chemogenetic inhibition targeting the main classes of GABAergic neurons should be afforded to dissect the role of specific inhibitory neurons in the top-down control of vPL.

The results obtained in this thesis suggest that that vPL deficits might be attributed to functional deficits of the top-down connections between LM and the primary visual cortex. Even though primary visual neurons are critically engaged in perceptual learning as proven by the high specificity for the stimulus orientation observed in vPL trained mice, LM processing is indeed required for the proper execution of the vPL task and is likewise necessary to retain the perceptual improvements acquired as a result of vPL practice.

I showed that LM, the first visual area along the ventral stream, guides the brain response to perceptual practice, providing the first direct evidence of the substantial involvement of a HVA in vPL. Further efforts are needed to unravel the role that other HVAs could have in this learning process. In particular, subsequent studies should address whether HVAs belonging to the ventral or dorsal stream modulate different features of the perceptual performance in this vPL task.

Much remains to be clarified about the nature of the interactions between top-down inputs and lower-stage circuitries that lead to perceptual improvements. It is worth noticing that top-down excitatory and inhibitory drives are not mutually exclusive processes and they could both concur to precisely regulate the signal to noise ratio within the primary visual cortex, ultimately leading to these improvements in perceptual discrimination. The demonstration that top-down projections from LM play a necessary role in the learning process which leads to perceptual improvement is an important step towards unraveling the neural networks responsible for the neural underpinnings of vPL.

Bibliography

- Adab, H.Z. ivar., Popivanov, I.D., Vanduffel, W., Vogels, R., 2014. Perceptual Learning of Simple Stimuli Modifies Stimulus Representations in Posterior Inferior Temporal Cortex. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 26, 2187–2200. https://doi.org/10.1162/JOCN_A_00641
- Ahissar, M., Hochstein, S., 2004. The reverse hierarchy theory of visual perceptual learning. Trends Cogn. Sci. 8, 457–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TICS.2004.08.011
- Ahissar, M., Hochstein, S., 1997. Task difficulty and the specificity of perceptual learning. Nat. 1997 3876631 387, 401–406. https://doi.org/10.1038/387401a0
- Ahissar, M., Hochstein, S., 1996. Learning pop-out detection: specificities to stimulus characteristics. Vision Res. 36, 3487–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(96)00036-3
- Ahissar, M., Hochstein, S., 1993. Attentional control of early perceptual learning. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 90, 5718–5722. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.90.12.5718
- Andermann, M.L., Kerlin, A.M., Roumis, D.K., Glickfeld, L.L., Reid, R.C., 2011. Functional Specialization of Mouse Higher Visual Cortical Areas. Neuron 72, 1025–1039. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2011.11.013
- Angelucci, A., Bressloff, P.C., 2006. Contribution of feedforward, lateral and feedback connections to the classical receptive field center and extra-classical receptive field surround of primate V1 neurons. Prog. Brain Res. 154, 93–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(06)54005-1

Antonini, A., Gillespie, D.C., Crair, M.C., Stryker, M.P., 1998. Morphology of single

geniculocortical afferents and functional recovery of the visual cortex after reverse monocular deprivation in the kitten. J. Neurosci. 18, 9896–909.

- Armbruster, B.N., Li, X., Pausch, M.H., Herlitze, S., Roth, B.L., 2007. Evolving the lock to fit the key to create a family of G protein-coupled receptors potently activated by an inert ligand. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 104, 5163–5168. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0700293104
- Astle, A.T., Blighe, A.J., Webb, B.S., McGraw, P. V., 2014. The Effect of Aging on Crowded Letter Recognition in the Peripheral Visual Field. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 55, 5039. https://doi.org/10.1167/IOVS.14-14181
- Ball, K., Sekuler, R., 1987. Direction-specific improvement in motion discrimination. Vision Res. 27, 953–965. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(87)90011-3
- Ball, K., Sekuler, R., 1982. A specific and enduring improvement in visual motion discrimination. Science 218, 697–8. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7134968
- Bao, M., Yang, L., Rios, C., He, B., Engel, S.A., 2010. Perceptual learning increases the strength of the earliest signals in visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 30, 15080–15084. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5703-09.2010
- Baroncelli, L., Bonaccorsi, J., Milanese, M., Bonifacino, T., Giribaldi, F., Manno, I., Cenni,
 M.C., Berardi, N., Bonanno, G., Maffei, L., Sale, A., 2012. Enriched experience and
 recovery from amblyopia in adult rats: impact of motor, social and sensory components.
 Neuropharmacology 62, 2388–97.
- Barth, M., Hirsch, H. V, Meinertzhagen, I.A., Heisenberg, M., 1997. Experience-dependent developmental plasticity in the optic lobe of Drosophila melanogaster. J. Neurosci. 17, 1493–504.

- Bastos, A.M., Usrey, W.M., Adams, R.A., Mangun, G.R., Fries, P., Friston, K.J., 2012. Canonical Microcircuits for Predictive Coding. Neuron 76, 695–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2012.10.038
- Bavelier, D., Levi, D.M., Li, R.W., Dan, Y., Hensch, T.K., 2010. Removing brakes on adult brain plasticity: from molecular to behavioral interventions. J. Neurosci. 30, 14964–71. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4812-10.2010
- Bedford, F.L., 1993. Perceptual and Cognitive Spatial Learning. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 19, 517–530. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-1523.19.3.517
- Berardi, N., Fiorentini, A., 1987. Interhemispheric transfer of visual information in humans: spatial characteristics. J. Physiol. 384, 633–47. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1987.sp016474
- Berardi, N., Pizzorusso, T., Maffei, L., 2000. Critical periods during sensory development. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 10, 138–45.
- Bi, T., Chen, J., Zhou, T., He, Y., Fang, F., 2014. Function and structure of human left fusiform cortex are closely associated with perceptual learning of faces. Curr. Biol. 24, 222–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.12.028
- Blakemore, C., Vital-Durand, F., Garey, L.J., 1981. Recovery from monocular deprivation in the monkey. I. Reversal of physiological effects in the visual cortex. Proc. R. Soc.
 London. Ser. B, Biol. Sci. 213, 399–423. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1981.0072
- Blasdel, G.G., Mitchell, D.E., Muir, D.W., Pettigrew, J.D., 1977. A physiological and behavioural study in cats of the effect of early visual experience with contours of a single orientation. J. Physiol. 265, 615–636.

https://doi.org/10.1113/JPHYSIOL.1977.SP011734

- Bonaccorsi, J., Berardi, N., Sale, A., 2014. Treatment of amblyopia in the adult: insights from a new rodent model of visual perceptual learning. Front. Neural Circuits 8, 82. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2014.00082
- Buisseret, P., Gary-Bobo, E., Milleret, C., 1988. Development of the kitten visual cortex depends on the relationship between the plane of eye movements and visual inputs. Exp.erimental Brain Res. 72, 83–94.
- Burgess, C.R., Ramesh, R.N., Sugden, A.U., Levandowski, K.M., Minnig, M.A., Fenselau,
 H., Lowell, B.B., Andermann, M.L., 2016. Hunger-Dependent Enhancement of Food
 Cue Responses in Mouse Postrhinal Cortex and Lateral Amygdala. Neuron 91, 1154–
 1169. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2016.07.032
- Caviness, V.S., 1975. Architectonic map of neocortex of the normal mouse. J. Comp. Neurol. 164, 247–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.901640207
- Censor, N., Karni, A., Sagi, D., 2006. A link between perceptual learning, adaptation and sleep. Vision Res. 46, 4071–4074. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2006.07.022
- Chang, D.H.F., Mevorach, C., Kourtzi, Z., Welchman, A.E., 2014. Training Transfers the Limits on Perception from Parietal to Ventral Cortex. Curr. Biol. 24, 2445. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2014.08.058
- Chen, J.L., Flanders, G.H., Lee, W.C.A., Lin, W.C., Nedivi, E., 2011. Inhibitory Dendrite Dynamics as a General Feature of the Adult Cortical Microcircuit. J. Neurosci. 31, 12437–12443. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0420-11.2011
- Chen, M., Yan, Y., Gong, X., Gilbert, C.D., Liang, H., Li, W., 2014. Incremental Integration of Global Contours through Interplay between Visual Cortical Areas. Neuron 82, 682– 694. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2014.03.023

Chen, N., Cai, P., Zhou, T., Thompson, B., Fang, F., 2016. Perceptual learning modifies the functional specializations of visual cortical areas. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113, 5724–5729.

https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1524160113/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.201524160SI.PDF

- Chowdhury, S.A., DeAngelis, G.C., 2008. Fine discrimination training alters the causal contribution of macaque area MT to depth perception. Neuron 60, 367–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.08.023
- Consorti, A., Di Marco, I., Sansevero, G., 2021. Physical Exercise Modulates Brain
 Physiology Through a Network of Long- and Short-Range Cellular Interactions. Front.
 Mol. Neurosci. 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNMOL.2021.710303/FULL
- Consorti, A., Sansevero, G., Torelli, C., Berardi, N., Sale, A., 2019. From Basic Visual Science to Neurodevelopmental Disorders: The Voyage of Environmental Enrichment-Like Stimulation. Neural Plast. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/5653180
- Consorti, A., Sansevero, G., Torelli, C., Di Marco, I., Berardi, N., Sale, A., 2022. Visual Perceptual Learning Induces Long-Lasting Recovery of Visual Acuity, Visual Depth Perception Abilities and Binocular Matching in Adult Amblyopic Rats. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 16, 117. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCEL.2022.840708/BIBTEX
- Cooke, S.F., Bear, M.F., 2012. Stimulus-selective response plasticity in the visual cortex: an assay for the assessment of pathophysiology and treatment of cognitive impairment associated with psychiatric disorders. Biol. Psychiatry 71, 487–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2011.09.006
- Crair, M.C., Gillespie, D.C., Stryker, M.P., 1998. The role of visual experience in the development of columns in cat visual cortex. undefined 279, 566–570.

https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.279.5350.566

- Crist, R.E., Kapadia, M.K., Westheimer, G., Gilbert, C.D., 1997. Perceptual learning of spatial localization: Specificity for orientation, position, and context. J. Neurophysiol. 78, 2889–2894.
 https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.1997.78.6.2889/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/JNP.DE50F5.JPE G
- Crist, R.E., Li, W., Gilbert, C.D., 2001. Learning to see: Experience and attention in primary visual cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 4, 519–525. https://doi.org/10.1038/87470
- De Valois, K.K., 1977. Spatial frequency adaptation can enhance contrast sensitivity. Vision Res. 17, 1057–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(77)90010-4
- Deveau, J., Lovcik, G., Seitz, A.R., 2013. The therapeutic benefits of perceptual learning. Curr. Trends Neurol. 7, 39–49.
- Dickson, P.E., Cairns, J., Goldowitz, D., Mittleman, G., 2017. Cerebellar contribution to higher and lower order rule learning and cognitive flexibility in mice. Neuroscience 345, 99–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE.2016.03.040
- Dodwell, P.C., Keith Humphrey, G., 1990. A functional theory of the McCollough effect. Psychol. Rev. 97, 78–89. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.97.1.78
- Dong, H., Wang, Q., Valkova, K., Gonchar, Y., Burkhalter, A., 2004. Experience-dependent development of feedforward and feedback circuits between lower and higher areas of mouse visual cortex. Vision Res. 44, 3389–3400. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2004.09.007
- Dosher, B., Lu, Z.-L., 2017. Visual Perceptual Learning and Models. Annu. Rev. Vis. Sci. 3,

343-363. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-vision-102016-061249

- Dosher, B.A., Jeter, P., Liu, J., Lu, Z.L., 2013. An integrated reweighting theory of perceptual learning. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 13678–13683. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1312552110/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.201312552SI.PDF
- Dosher, B.A., Lu, Z.L., 1999. Mechanisms of perceptual learning. Vision Res. 39, 3197– 3221. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(99)00059-0
- Doupe, A.J., Kuhl, P.K., 1999. Birdsong and human speech: common themes and mechanisms. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 22, 567–631. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.22.1.567
- Fagiolini, M., Hensch, T.K., 2000. Inhibitory threshold for critical-period activation in primary visual cortex. Nature 404, 183–186. https://doi.org/10.1038/35004582
- Fagiolini, M., Pizzorusso, T., Berardi, N., Domenici, L., Maffei, L., 1994. Functional postnatal development of the rat primary visual cortex and the role of visual experience: Dark rearing and monocular deprivation. Vision Res. 34, 709–720. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(94)90210-0
- Fahle, M., Edelman, S., 1993. Long-term learning in vernier acuity: Effects of stimulus orientation, range and of feedback. Vision Res. 33, 397–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(93)90094-D
- Fahle, M., Edelman, S., Poggio, T., 1995. Fast perceptual learning in hyperacuity. Vision Res. 35, 3003–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(95)00044-z
- Fahle, M., Skrandies, W., 1994. An electrophysiological correlate of learning in motion perception. Ger. J. Ophthalmol. 3, 427–432.

- Federer, F., Williams, D., Ichida, J.M., Merlin, S., Angelucci, A., 2013. Two projection streams from macaque V1 to the pale cytochrome oxidase stripes of V2. J. Neurosci. 33, 11530–11539. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5053-12.2013
- Fendick, M., Westheimer, G., 1983. Effects of practice and the separation of test targets on foveal and peripheral stereoacuity. Vision Res. 23, 145–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(83)90137-2
- Fine, I., Jacobs, R.A., 2000. Perceptual learning for a pattern discrimination task. Vision Res. 40, 3209–3230. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(00)00163-2
- Fiorentini, A., Berardi, N., 1981. Learning in grating waveform discrimination: specificity for orientation and spatial frequency. Vision Res. 21, 1149–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(81)90017-1
- Fiorentini, A., Berardi, N., 1980. Perceptual learning specific for orientation and spatial frequency. Nature 287, 43–44. https://doi.org/10.1038/287043a0
- Frenkel, M.Y., Sawtell, N.B., Diogo, A.C.M., Yoon, B., Neve, R.L., Bear, M.F., 2006. Instructive Effect of Visual Experience in Mouse Visual Cortex. Neuron 51, 339–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.06.026
- Furmanski, C.S., Engel, S.A., 2000. Perceptual learning in object recognition: object specificity and size invariance. Vision Res. 40, 473–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0042-6989(99)00134-0
- Furmanski, C.S., Schluppeck, D., Engel, S.A., 2004. Learning strengthens the response of primary visual cortex to simple patterns. Curr. Biol. 14, 573–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2004.03.032

- Furtak, S.C., Ahmed, O.J., Burwell, R.D., 2012. Single Neuron Activity and Theta Modulation in Postrhinal Cortex during Visual Object Discrimination. Neuron 76, 976– 988. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2012.10.039
- Gianfranceschi, L., Siciliano, R., Walls, J., Morales, B., Kirkwood, A., Huang, Z.J., Tonegawa, S., Maffei, L., 2003. Visual cortex is rescued from the effects of dark rearing by overexpression of BDNF. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100, 12486–12491. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1934836100
- Giannikopoulos, D. V., Eysel, U.T., 2006. Dynamics and specificity of cortical map reorganization after retinal lesions. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103, 10805–10810. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.0604539103/ASSET/F4A2D0D4-7443-4618-9524-49A3CA4B8973/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/ZPQ0290628190004.JPEG
- Gibson, E.J., 1969. Principles of perceptual learning and development 537.
- Gilbert, C.D., Hirsch, J.A., Wiesel, T.N., 1990. Lateral interactions in visual cortex. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 55, 663–677. https://doi.org/10.1101/SQB.1990.055.01.063
- Gilbert, C.D., Li, W., 2013. Top-down influences on visual processing. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2013 145 14, 350–363. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3476
- Gilbert, C.D., Li, W., 2012. Adult Visual Cortical Plasticity. Neuron 75, 250–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2012.06.030
- Gilbert, C.D., Sigman, M., Crist, R.E., 2001. The neural basis of perceptual learning. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00424-X
- Gilbert, C.D., Wiesel, T.N., 1989. Columnar specificity of intrinsic horizontal and

corticocortical connections in cat visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 9, 2432–2422. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.09-07-02432.1989

- Gilbert, C.D., Wiesel, T.N., 1983. Clustered intrinsic connections in cat visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 3, 1116–1133. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.03-05-01116.1983
- Gilbert, C.D., Wiesel, T.N., 1979. Morphology and intracortical projections of functionally characterised neurones in the cat visual cortex. Nat. 1979 2805718 280, 120–125. https://doi.org/10.1038/280120a0
- Glickfeld, L.L., Olsen, S.R., 2017. Higher-Order Areas of the Mouse Visual Cortex. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-vision-102016-061331 3, 251–273. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-VISION-102016-061331
- Glickfeld, L.L., Reid, R.C., Andermann, M.L., 2014. A mouse model of higher visual cortical function. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 24, 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CONB.2013.08.009
- Gold, J., Bennett, P.J., Sekuler, A.B., 1999. Signal but not noise changes with perceptual learning. Nature 402, 176–178. https://doi.org/10.1038/46027
- Gold, J.I., Law, C.T., Connolly, P., Bennur, S., 2008. The relative influences of priors and sensory evidence on an oculomotor decision variable during perceptual learning. J. Neurophysiol. 100, 2653–2668.
 https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.90629.2008/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/Z9K0110891480014.
 JPEG
- Goldbach, H.C., Akitake, B., Leedy, C.E., Histed, M.H., 2021. Performance in even a simple perceptual task depends on mouse secondary visual areas. Elife 10, 1–39. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.62156

- Goldman-Rakic, P.S., Rakic, P., 1991. Distributed hierarchical processing in the primate cerebral cortex. Cereb. Cortex 1, 1. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/1.1.1-A
- Goldstone, R.L., 1998. Perceptual learning. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 49, 585–612. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.PSYCH.49.1.585
- Goltstein, P.M., Reinert, S., Bonhoeffer, T., Hübener, M., 2021. Mouse visual cortex areas represent perceptual and semantic features of learned visual categories. Nat. Neurosci. 2021 2410 24, 1441–1451. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-021-00914-5
- Gonchar, Y., Burkhalter, A., 2003. Distinct GABAergic Targets of Feedforward and Feedback Connections Between Lower and Higher Areas of Rat Visual Cortex. J. Neurosci. 23, 10904–10912. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-34-10904.2003
- Gonchar, Y., Burkhalter, A., 1999. Differential Subcellular Localization of Forward and Feedback Interareal Inputs to Parvalbumin Expressing GABAergic Neurons in Rat Visual Cortex. J. Comp. Neurol 406, 346–360. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19990412)406:3
- Green, C.S., Kattner, F., Siegel, M.H., Kersten, D., Schrater, P.R., 2015. Differences in perceptual learning transfer as a function of training task. J. Vis. 15, 5–5. https://doi.org/10.1167/15.10.5
- Herzog, M.H., Fahle, M., 1997. The role of feedback in learning a vernier discrimination task. Vision Res. 37, 2133–2141. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(97)00043-6
- Heynen, A.J., Bear, M.F., 2001. Long-term potentiation of thalamocortical transmission in the adult visual cortex in vivo. J. Neurosci. 21, 9801–13.
- Hirsch, H.V.B., 1985. The role of visual experience in the development of cat striate cortex.

Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 1985 51 5, 103–121. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00711088

- Hua, T., Bao, P., Huang, C.B., Wang, Z., Xu, J., Zhou, Y., Lu, Z.L., 2010. Perceptual Learning Improves Contrast Sensitivity of V1 Neurons in Cats. Curr. Biol. 20, 887–894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2010.03.066
- Hubel, D.H., Wiesel, T.N., 1970. The period of susceptibility to the physiological effects of unilateral eye closure in kittens. J. Physiol. 206, 419–436. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1970.sp009022
- Hubel, D.H., Wiesel, T.N., 1963. Effects of visual deprivation on morphology and physiology of cells in the cat's lateral geniculate body. J. Neurophysiol. 26, 978–93.
- Hubel, D.H., Wiesel, T.N., 1959. Receptive fields of single neurones in the cat's striate cortex. J. Physiol. 148, 574. https://doi.org/10.1113/JPHYSIOL.1959.SP006308
- Hung, S.C., Seitz, A.R., 2014. Prolonged training at threshold promotes robust retinotopic specificity in perceptual learning. J. Neurosci. 34, 8423–8431. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0745-14.2014
- Hussain, Z., Sekuler, A.B., Bennett, P.J., 2009. Perceptual learning modifies inversion effects for faces and textures. Vision Res. 49, 2273–2284. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2009.06.014
- Ibrahim, L.A., Huang, S., Fernandez-Otero, M., Sherer, M., Qiu, Y., Vemuri, S., Xu, Q., Machold, R., Pouchelon, G., Rudy, B., Fishell, G., 2021. Bottom-up inputs are required for establishment of top-down connectivity onto cortical layer 1 neurogliaform cells. Neuron 109, 3473-3485.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2021.08.004
- Ito, M., Gilbert, C.D., 1999. Attention modulates contextual influences in the primary visual

cortex of alert monkeys. Neuron 22, 593–604. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80713-8

- Jehee, J.F.M., Ling, S., Swisher, J.D., van Bergen, R.S., Tong, F., 2012. Perceptual Learning Selectively Refines Orientation Representations in Early Visual Cortex. J. Neurosci. 32, 16747–16753. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6112-11.2012
- Jenkins, W.M., Merzenich, M.M., Ochs, M.T., Allard, T., Guic-Robles, E., 1990. Functional reorganization of primary somatosensory cortex in adult owl monkeys after behaviorally controlled tactile stimulation. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1990.63.1.82 63, 82–104. https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.1990.63.1.82
- Jeter, P.E., Dosher, B.A., Liu, S.H., Lu, Z.L., 2010. Specificity of perceptual learning increases with increased training. Vision Res. 50, 1928. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2010.06.016
- Jeter, P.E., Dosher, B.A., Petrov, A., Lu, Z.L., 2009. Task precision at transfer determines specificity of perceptual learning. J. Vis. 9, 1–1. https://doi.org/10.1167/9.3.1
- Jin, M., Glickfeld, L.L., 2020. Mouse Higher Visual Areas Provide Both Distributed and Specialized Contributions to Visually Guided Behaviors. Curr. Biol. 30, 4682-4692.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2020.09.015
- Johnson, R.R., Burkhalter, A., 1997. A polysynaptic feedback circuit in rat visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 17, 7129–7140. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-18-07129.1997
- Jordan, D., Ilg, R., Riedl, V., Schorer, A., Grimberg, S., Neufang, S., Omerovic, A., Berger,
 S., Untergehrer, G., Preibisch, C., Schulz, E., Schuster, T., Schröter, M., Spoormaker, V.,
 Zimmer, C., Hemmer, B., Wohlschläger, A., F. Kochs, E., Schneider, G., 2013.
 Simultaneous electroencephalographic and functional magnetic resonance imaging

indicate impaired cortical top-down processing in association with anesthetic-induced unconsciousness. Anesthesiology 119, 1031–1042. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.0B013E3182A7CA92

- Kandel, E.R., 2009. The biology of memory: a forty-year perspective. J. Neurosci. 29, 12748– 56. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3958-09.2009
- Kaplan, E.S., Cooke, S.F., Komorowski, R.W., Chubykin, A.A., Thomazeau, A., Khibnik, L.A., Gavornik, J.P., Bear, M.F., 2016. Contrasting roles for parvalbumin-expressing inhibitory neurons in two forms of adult visual cortical plasticity. Elife 5. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.11450
- Karni, A., Sagi, D., 1993. The time course of learning a visual skill. Nature 365, 250–252. https://doi.org/10.1038/365250a0
- Karni, A., Sagi, D., 1991. Where practice makes perfect in texture discrimination: evidence for primary visual cortex plasticity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 88, 4966–70. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.11.4966
- Kelly, S.P., Gomez-Ramirez, M., Foxe, J.J., 2008. Spatial attention modulates initial afferent activity in human primary visual cortex. Cereb. Cortex 18, 2629–2636. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHN022
- Kovács, I., 2000. Human development of perceptual organization. Vision Res. 40, 1301–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0042-6989(00)00055-9
- Kovács, I., Kozma, P., Fehér, Á., Benedek, G., 1999. Late maturation of visual spatial integration in humans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96, 12204–12209. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.21.12204

Ku, S.W., Lee, U.C., Noh, G.J., Jun, I.G., Mashour, G.A., 2011. Preferential Inhibition of Frontal-to-Parietal Feedback Connectivity Is a Neurophysiologic Correlate of General Anesthesia in Surgical Patients. PLoS One 6. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0025155

- Kuai, S.G., Levi, D., Kourtzi, Z., 2013. Learning optimizes decision templates in the human visual cortex. Curr. Biol. 23, 1799–1804. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.07.052
- Lamme, V.A.F., Zipser, K., Spekreijse, H., 1998. Figure-ground activity in primary visual cortex is suppressed by anesthesia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 3263–3268. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.95.6.3263/ASSET/157936E8-BC5E-4B04-BEF9-086F60B1238B/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/PQ0584389005.JPEG
- Lee, S.H., Kwan, A.C., Zhang, S., Phoumthipphavong, V., Flannery, J.G., Masmanidis, S.C., Taniguchi, H., Huang, Z.J., Zhang, F., Boyden, E.S., Deisseroth, K., Dan, Y., 2012.
 Activation of specific interneurons improves V1 feature selectivity and visual perception. Nat. 2012 4887411 488, 379–383. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11312
- Levi, D.M., Li, R.W., 2009. Perceptual learning as a potential treatment for amblyopia: A mini-review. Vision Res. 49, 2535–2549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2009.02.010
- Lewis, T.L., Maurer, D., 2009. Effects of early pattern deprivation on visual development. Optom. Vis. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1097/OPX.0b013e3181a7296b
- Li, W., 2016. Perceptual Learning: Use-Dependent Cortical Plasticity. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-vision-111815-114351 2, 109–130. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-VISION-111815-114351
- Li, W., Piëch, V., Gilbert, C.D., 2008. Learning to Link Visual Contours. Neuron 57, 442. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2007.12.011

- Li, W., Piëch, V., Gilbert, C.D., 2004. Perceptual learning and top-down influences in primary visual cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 2004 76 7, 651–657. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1255
- Liu, Z., Vaina, L.M., 1998. Simultaneous learning of motion discrimination in two directions. Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res. 6, 347–9.

Lu, Z.L., Liu, J., Dosher, B.A., 2010. Modeling mechanisms of perceptual learning with augmented Hebbian re-weighting. Vision Res. 50, 375–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2009.08.027

- Maniglia, M., Seitz, A.R., 2018. Towards a whole brain model of Perceptual Learning. Curr. Opin. Behav. Sci. 20, 47–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.10.004
- Manns, J.R., Squire, L.R., 2001. Perceptual learning, awareness, and the hippocampus. Hippocampus 11, 776–782. https://doi.org/10.1002/HIPO.1093
- Marik, S.A., Yamahachi, H., Meyer zum Alten Borgloh, S., Gilbert, C.D., 2014. Large-Scale Axonal Reorganization of Inhibitory Neurons following Retinal Lesions. J. Neurosci. 34, 1625. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4345-13.2014
- Marshel, J.H., Garrett, M.E., Nauhaus, I., Callaway, E.M., 2011. Functional Specialization of Seven Mouse Visual Cortical Areas. Neuron 72, 1040–1054. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2011.12.004
- Matthews, N., Liu, Z., Geesaman, B.J., Qian, N., 1999. Perceptual learning on orientation and direction discrimination. Vision Res. 39, 3692–701. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0042-6989(99)00069-3

Matthews, N., Welch, L., 1997. Velocity-dependent improvements in single-dot direction

discrimination. Percept. Psychophys. 59, 60-72. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03206848

- Mayer, M.J., 1983. Practice improves adults' sensitivity to diagonals. Vision Res. 23, 547–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(83)90130-x
- Mazziotti, R., Baroncelli, L., Ceglia, N., Chelini, G., Sala, G. Della, Magnan, C., Napoli, D., Putignano, E., Silingardi, D., Tola, J., Tognini, P., Arthur, J.S.C., Baldi, P., Pizzorusso, T., 2017. Mir-132/212 is required for maturation of binocular matching of orientation preference and depth perception. Nat. Commun. 8, 15488. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15488
- McGovern, D.P., Webb, B.S., Peirce, J.W., 2012. Transfer of perceptual learning between different visual tasks. J. Vis. 12, 4–4. https://doi.org/10.1167/12.11.4
- McKee, S.P., Westheimer, G., 1978. Improvement in vernier acuity with practice. Percept. Psychophys. 24, 258–62. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03206097
- Mclaren, I.P.L., 1997. Categorization and Perceptual Learning: An Analogue of the Face Inversion Effect. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. A 50, 257–273. https://doi.org/10.1080/027249897392080
- Milner, A.D., Goodale, M.A., 1992. Separate visual pathways for perception and action.
- Monosov, I.E., Trageser, J.C., Thompson, K.G., 2008. Measurements of simultaneously recorded spiking activity and local field potentials suggest that spatial selection emerges in the frontal eye field. Neuron 57, 614–625. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2007.12.030
- Montgomery, D.P., Hayden, D.J., Chaloner, F.A., Cooke, S.F., Bear, M.F., 2022. Stimulus-Selective Response Plasticity in Primary Visual Cortex: Progress and Puzzles. Front.

Neural Circuits 15, 176. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCIR.2021.815554/BIBTEX

- Morcos, A.S., Harvey, C.D., 2016. History-dependent variability in population dynamics during evidence accumulation in cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 2016 1912 19, 1672–1681. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4403
- Morimoto, M.M., Uchishiba, E., Saleem, A.B., 2021. Organization of feedback projections to mouse primary visual cortex. iScience 24, 102450. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ISCI.2021.102450
- Morishima, Y., Akaishi, R., Yamada, Y., Okuda, J., Toma, K., Sakai, K., 2009. Task-specific signal transmission from prefrontal cortex in visual selective attention. Nat. Neurosci. Vol. 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2237
- Mountcastle, V.B., Steinmetz, M.A., Romo, R., 1990. Frequency discrimination in the sense of flutter: psychophysical measurements correlated with postcentral events in behaving monkeys. J. Neurosci. 10, 3032–3044. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.10-09-03032.1990
- Movshon, J.A., 1976. Reversal of the physiological effects of monocular deprivation in the kitten's visual cortex. J. Physiol. 261, 125–74. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1976.sp011551
- Movshon, J.A., Dursteler, M.R., 1977. Effects of brief periods of unilateral eye closure on the kitten's visual system. J. Neurophysiol. 40, 1255–1265. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1977.40.6.1255
- Mukai, I., Kim, D., Fukunaga, M., Japee, S., Marrett, S., Ungerleider, L.G., 2007. Activations in visual and attention-related areas predict and correlate with the degree of perceptual learning. J. Neurosci. 27, 11401–11411. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3002-

- Murakami, T., Matsui, T., Ohki, K., 2017. Functional Segregation and Development of Mouse Higher Visual Areas. J. Neurosci. 37, 9424–9437. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0731-17.2017
- Nurminen, L., Merlin, S., Bijanzadeh, M., Federer, F., Angelucci, A., 2018. Top-down feedback controls spatial summation and response amplitude in primate visual cortex. Nat. Commun. 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04500-5
- Oh, S.W., Harris, J.A., Ng, L., Winslow, B., Cain, N., Mihalas, S., Wang, Q., Lau, C., Kuan, L., Henry, A.M., Mortrud, M.T., Ouellette, B., Nguyen, T.N., Sorensen, S.A., Slaughterbeck, C.R., Wakeman, W., Li, Y., Feng, D., Ho, A., Nicholas, E., Hirokawa, K.E., Bohn, P., Joines, K.M., Peng, H., Hawrylycz, M.J., Phillips, J.W., Hohmann, J.G., Wohnoutka, P., Gerfen, C.R., Koch, C., Bernard, A., Dang, C., Jones, A.R., Zeng, H., 2014. A mesoscale connectome of the mouse brain. Nature 508, 207–214. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE13186
- Olavarria, J., Montero, V.M., 1989. Organization Of Visual Cortex In The Mouse Revealed By Correlating Callosal And Striate-Extrastriate Connections. Vis. Neurosci. 3, 59–69. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0952523800012517
- Olson, C.R., Freeman, R.D., 1980. Profile of the sensitive period for monocular deprivation in kittens. Exp. brain Res. 39, 17–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00237065
- Olson, C.R., Freeman, R.D., 1975. Progressive changes in kitten striate cortex during monocular vision. J. Neurophysiol. 38, 26–32. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1975.38.1.26
- Pafundo, D.E., Nicholas, M.A., Zhang, R., Kuhlman, S.J., 2016. Top-Down-Mediated Facilitation in the Visual Cortex Is Gated by Subcortical Neuromodulation. J. Neurosci.

36, 2904–2914. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2909-15.2016

- Petrov, A.A., Dosher, B.A., Lu, Z.-L., 2005. The Dynamics of Perceptual Learning: An Incremental Reweighting Model. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.112.4.715
- Piëch, V., Li, W., Reeke, G.N., Gilbert, C.D., 2013. Network model of top-down influences on local gain and contextual interactions in visual cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1317019110//DCSUPPLEMENTAL/PNAS.201317019SI.PDF
- Pizzorusso, T., Fagiolini, M., Porciatti, V., Maffei, L., 1997. Temporal Aspects of Contrast Visual Evoked Potentials in the Pigmented Rat: Effect of Dark Rearing. Vision Res. 37, 389–395. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0042-6989(96)00172-1
- Poggio, T., Fahle, M., Edelman, S., 1992. Fast perceptual learning in visual hyperacuity. Science (80-.). 256, 1018–1021. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1589770
- Porciatti, V., Pizzorusso, T., Maffei, L., 1999. The visual physiology of the wild type mouse determined with pattern VEPs. Vision Res. 39, 3071–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0042-6989(99)00022-x
- Pouille, F., Scanziani, M., 2001. Enforcement of temporal fidelity in pyramidal cells by somatic feed-forward inhibition. Science (80-.). 293, 1159–1163.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1060342/ASSET/F38B59D9-4F2B-4912-831F-F43EC4D7DEC2/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/SE3119656004.JPEG
- Pourtois, G., Rauss, K.S., Vuilleumier, P., Schwartz, S., 2008. Effects of perceptual learning on primary visual cortex activity in humans. Vision Res. 48, 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2007.10.027

- Prettyman, A., 2019. Perceptual learning. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Cogn. Sci. 10, e1489. https://doi.org/10.1002/WCS.1489
- Prusky, G.T., West, P.W., Douglas, R.M., 2000. Behavioral assessment of visual acuity in mice and rats. Vision Res. 40, 2201–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0042-6989(00)00081-x
- Raiguel, S., Vogels, R., Mysore, S.G., Orban, G.A., 2006. Learning to See the Difference Specifically Alters the Most Informative V4 Neurons. J. Neurosci. 26, 6589–6602. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0457-06.2006
- Ramachandran, V.S., Braddick, O., 1973. Orientation specific learning in stereopsis. Perception 2, 371–376. https://doi.org/10.1068/p020371
- Rauss, K.S., Pourtois, G., Vuilleumier, P., Schwartz, S., 2009. Attentional load modifies early activity in human primary visual cortex. Hum. Brain Mapp. 30, 1723–1733. https://doi.org/10.1002/HBM.20636
- Raz, A., Grady, S.M., Krause, B.M., Uhlrich, D.J., Manning, K.A., Banks, M.I., 2014.
 Preferential effect of isoflurane on top-down vs. bottom-up pathways in sensory cortex.
 Front. Syst. Neurosci. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNSYS.2014.00191
- Recanzone, G.H., Merzenich, M.M., Jenkins, W.M., Grajski, K.A., Dinse, H.R., 1992. Topographic reorganization of the hand representation in cortical area 3b owl monkeys trained in a frequency-discrimination task. J. Neurophysiol. 67, 1031–56. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1992.67.5.1031
- Recanzone, G.H., Schreiner, C.E., Merzenich, M.M., 1993. Plasticity in the frequency representation of primary auditory cortex following discrimination training in adult owl monkeys. J. Neurosci. 13, 87–103.

- Rockland, K.S., Lund, J.S., 1982. Widespread periodic intrinsic connections in the tree shrew visual cortex. Science 215, 1532–1534. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.7063863
- Rosa, M.G.P., Krubitzer, L.A., 1999. The evolution of visual cortex: where is V2? Trends Neurosci. 22, 242–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(99)01398-3
- Sale, A., Berardi, N., Maffei, L., 2014. Environment and Brain Plasticity: Towards an Endogenous Pharmacotherapy. Physiol. Rev. 94, 189–234. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00036.2012
- Sale, A., De Pasquale, R., Bonaccorsi, J., Pietra, G., Olivieri, D., Berardi, N., Maffei, L., 2011. Visual perceptual learning induces long-term potentiation in the visual cortex. Neuroscience 172, 219–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.10.078
- Sale, A., Maya Vetencourt, J.F., Medini, P., Cenni, M.C., Baroncelli, L., De Pasquale, R., Maffei, L., 2007. Environmental enrichment in adulthood promotes amblyopia recovery through a reduction of intracortical inhibition. Nat. Neurosci. 10, 679–681. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1899
- Sanayei, M., Chen, X., Chicharro, D., Distler, C., Panzeri, S., Thiele, A., 2018. Perceptual learning of fine contrast discrimination changes neuronal tuning and population coding in macaque V4. Nat. Commun. 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-018-06698-W
- Sánchez, R.F., Montero, V.M., Espinoza, S.G., Díaz, E., Canitrot, M., Pinto-Hamuy, T., 1997.
 Visuospatial Discrimination Deficit in Rats after Ibotenate Lesions in Anteromedial
 Visual Cortex. Physiol. Behav. 62, 989–994. https://doi.org/10.1016/S00319384(97)00201-1
- Sansevero, G., Torelli, C., Mazziotti, R., Consorti, A., Pizzorusso, T., Berardi, N., Sale, A., 2020. Running towards amblyopia recovery. Sci. Rep. 10, 1–12.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69630-7

- Schacter, D.L., 1992. Understanding implicit memory. A cognitive neuroscience approach. Am. Psychol. 47, 559–569. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066X.47.4.559
- Schacter, D.L., 1987. Implicit Memory: History and Current Status. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 13, 501–518. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-7393.13.3.501
- Schmid, L.M., Rosa, M.G.P., Calford, M.B., Ambler, J.S., 1996. Visuotopic reorganization in the primary visual cortex of adult cats following monocular and binocular retinal lesions. Cereb. Cortex 6, 388–405. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/6.3.388
- Schoups, A., Vogels, R., Qian, N., Orban, G., 2001. Practising orientation identification improves orientation coding in V1 neurons. Nature 412, 549–553. https://doi.org/10.1038/35087601
- Schoups, A.A., Vogels, R., Orban, G.A., 1995. Human perceptual learning in identifying the oblique orientation: retinotopy, orientation specificity and monocularity. J. Physiol. 483, 797–810. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1995.sp020623
- Schuman, B., Dellal, S., Prönneke, A., MacHold, R., Rudy, B., 2021. Neocortical Layer 1: An Elegant Solution to Top-Down and Bottom-Up Integration. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 44, 221. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-NEURO-100520-012117
- Shao, Z., Burkhalter, A., 1999. Role of GABAB receptor-mediated inhibition in reciprocal interareal pathways of rat visual cortex. J. Neurophysiol. 81, 1014–1024. https://doi.org/10.1152/JN.1999.81.3.1014
- Sherman, S.M., Spear, P.D., 1982. Organization of visual pathways in normal and visually deprived cats. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1982.62.2.738 62, 738–855.

https://doi.org/10.1152/PHYSREV.1982.62.2.738

- Shibata, K., Watanabe, T., Sasaki, Y., Kawato, M., 2011. Perceptual learning incepted by decoded fMRI neurofeedback without stimulus presentation. Science (80-.). 334, 1413– 1415. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1212003/SUPPL_FILE/1212003.SHIBATA.SOM.PD
 - F
- Shiu, L P, Pashler, H., 1992. Improvement in line orientation discrimination is retinally local but dependent on cognitive set. Percept. Psychophys. 52, 582–8. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03206720
- Shiu, Ling Po, Pashler, H., 1992. Improvement in line orientation discrimination is retinally local but dependent on cognitive set. Percept. Psychophys. 52, 582–588. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03206720
- Sigman, M., Pan, H., Yang, Y., Stern, E., Silbersweig, D., Gilbert, C.D., 2005. Top-Down Reorganization of Activity in the Visual Pathway after Learning a Shape Identification Task. Neuron 46, 823. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2005.05.014
- Smith, I.T., Townsend, L.B., Huh, R., Zhu, H., Smith, S.L., 2017. Stream-dependent development of higher visual cortical areas. Nat. Neurosci. 20, 200. https://doi.org/10.1038/NN.4469
- Somogyi, P., Kisvárday, Z.F., Martin, K.A.C., Whitteridge, D., 1983. Synaptic connections of morphologically identified and physiologically characterized large basket cells in the striate cortex of cat. Neuroscience 10, 261–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(83)90133-1

Sotiropoulos, G., Seitz, A.R., Seriès, P., 2018. Performance-monitoring integrated

reweighting model of perceptual learning. Vision Res. 152, 17–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2018.01.010

- Szpiro, S.F.A., Carrasco, M., 2015. Exogenous Attention Enables Perceptual Learning. Psychol. Sci. 26, 1854. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615598976
- Tartaglia, E.M., Bamert, L., Herzog, M.H., Mast, F.W., 2012. Perceptual learning of motion discrimination by mental imagery. J. Vis. 12, 14–14. https://doi.org/10.1167/12.6.14
- Tartaglia, E.M., Bamert, L., Mast, F.W., Herzog, M.H., 2009. Human Perceptual Learning by Mental Imagery. Curr. Biol. 19, 2081–2085. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2009.10.060
- Tees, R.C., 1999. The effects of posterior parietal and posterior temporal cortical lesions on multimodal spatial and nonspatial competencies in rats. Behav. Brain Res. 106, 55–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(99)00092-3
- Tohmi, M., Meguro, R., Tsukano, H., Hishida, R., Shibuki, K., 2014. The extrageniculate visual pathway generates distinct response properties in the higher visual areas of mice. Curr. Biol. 24, 587–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2014.01.061
- Tremblay, R., Lee, S., Rudy, B., 2016. GABAergic Interneurons in the Neocortex: From Cellular Properties to Circuits. Neuron 91, 260–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.06.033
- Valverde, F., 1971. Rate and extent of recovery from dark rearing in the visual cortex of the mouse. Brain Res. 33, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(71)90302-7
- Van Kerkoerle, T., Marik, S.A., Borgloh, S.M.Z.A., Gilbert, C.D., 2018. Axonal plasticity associated with perceptual learning in adult macaque primary visual cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 115, 10464–10469.

https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1812932115/ASSET/5AE940F9-0E3A-4695-BA47-8D7BCDFBD1EF/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/PNAS.1812932115FIG07.JPEG

- van Sluyters, R.C., 1978. Reversal of the physiological effects of brief periods of monocular deprivation in the kitten. J. Physiol. 284, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.1978.sp012524
- van Versendaal, D., Levelt, C.N., 2016. Inhibitory interneurons in visual cortical plasticity. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 73, 3677–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-016-2264-4
- Vangeneugden, J., van Beest, E.H., Cohen, M.X., Lorteije, J.A.M., Mukherjee, S.,
 Kirchberger, L., Montijn, J.S., Thamizharasu, P., Camillo, D., Levelt, C.N., Roelfsema,
 P.R., Self, M.W., Heimel, J.A., 2019. Activity in Lateral Visual Areas Contributes to
 Surround Suppression in Awake Mouse V1. Curr. Biol. 29, 4268-4275.e7.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2019.10.037
- Vidnyánszky, Z., Sohn, W., 2005. Learning to suppress task-irrelevant visual stimuli with attention. Vision Res. 45, 677–685. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2004.10.009
- Vogels, R., Orban, G.A., 1985. The effect of practice on the oblique effect in line orientation judgments. Vision Res. 25, 1679–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/0042-6989(85)90140-3
- Wagor, E., Mangini, N.J., Pearlman, A.L., 1980. Retinotopic organization of striate and extrastriate visual cortex in the mouse. J. Comp. Neurol. 193, 187–202. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.901930113
- Wallace, W., Bear, M.F., 2004. A Morphological Correlate of Synaptic Scaling in Visual Cortex. J. Neurosci. 24, 6928–6938. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1110-04.2004
- Wang, Q., Burkhalter, A., 2013. Stream-related preferences of inputs to the superior colliculus

from areas of dorsal and ventral streams of mouse visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 33, 1696– 1705. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3067-12.2013

- Wang, Q., Burkhalter, A., 2007. Area map of mouse visual cortex. J. Comp. Neurol. 502, 339–357. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.21286
- Wang, Q., Gao, E., Burkhalter, A., 2011. Gateways of Ventral and Dorsal Streams in Mouse Visual Cortex. J. Neurosci. 31, 1905–1918. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3488-10.2011
- Wang, Q., Sporns, O., Burkhalter, A., 2012. Network Analysis of Corticocortical Connections Reveals Ventral and Dorsal Processing Streams in Mouse Visual Cortex. J. Neurosci. 32, 4386. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6063-11.2012
- Watanabe, T., Sasaki, Y., 2015. Perceptual learning: Toward a comprehensive theory. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 66, 197–221. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-PSYCH-010814-015214
- Wehr, M., Zador, A.M., 2003. Balanced inhibition underlies tuning and sharpens spike timing in auditory cortex. Nat. 2003 4266965 426, 442–446. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02116
- Weingarten, E., Chen, Q., McAdams, M., Yi, J., Hepler, J., Albarracín, D., 2016. From primed concepts to action: A meta-analysis of the behavioral effects of incidentally presented words. Psychol. Bull. 142, 472–497. https://doi.org/10.1037/BUL0000030
- Weiss, Y., Edelman, S., Fahle, M., 1993. Models of Perceptual Learning in Vernier Hyperacuity. Neural Comput. 5, 695–718. https://doi.org/10.1162/NECO.1993.5.5.695

Weliky, M., 2000. Correlated neuronal activity and visual cortical development. Neuron 27,

427-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(00)00053-2

- Werker, J.F., Hensch, T.K., 2015. Critical periods in speech perception: new directions. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 66, 173–96. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015104
- Westheimer, G., Truong, T.T., 1988. Target crowding in foveal and peripheral stereoacuity. Am. J. Optom. Physiol. Opt. 65, 395–9.
- Wiesel, T.N., Hubel, D.H., 1965. Extent of recovery from the effects of visual deprivation in kittens. J. Neurophysiol. 28, 1060–72. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1965.28.6.1060
- Winters, B.D., Forwood, S.E., Cowell, R.A., Saksida, L.M., Bussey, T.J., 2004. Double dissociation between the effects of peri-postrhinal cortex and hippocampal lesions on tests of object recognition and spatial memory: heterogeneity of function within the temporal lobe. J. Neurosci. 24, 5901–5908. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1346-04.2004
- Winters, B.D., Reid, J.M., 2010. A Distributed Cortical Representation Underlies Crossmodal Object Recognition in Rats. J. Neurosci. 30, 6253–6261. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6073-09.2010
- Wright, B.A., Fitzgerald, M.B., 2001. Different patterns of human discrimination learning for two interaural cues to sound-source location. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98, 12307– 12312. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.211220498
- Xiao, L.Q., Zhang, J.Y., Wang, R., Klein, S.A., Levi, D.M., Yu, C., 2008. Complete Transfer of Perceptual Learning across Retinal Locations Enabled by Double Training. Curr. Biol. 18, 1922–1926. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2008.10.030

Yamashita, A., Valkova, K., Gonchar, Y., Burkhalter, A., 2003. Rearrangement of synaptic

connections with inhibitory neurons in developing mouse visual cortex. J. Comp. Neurol. 464, 426–437. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.10810

- Yan, Y., Rasch, M.J., Chen, M., Xiang, X., Huang, M., Wu, S., Li, W., 2014. Perceptual training continuously refines neuronal population codes in primary visual cortex. Nat. Neurosci. 2014 1710 17, 1380–1387. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3805
- Yang, T., Maunsell, J.H.R., 2004. The effect of perceptual learning on neuronal responses in monkey visual area V4. J. Neurosci. 24, 1617–1626. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4442-03.2004
- Yang, W., Carrasquillo, Y., Hooks, B.M., Nerbonne, J.M., Burkhalter, A., 2013. Distinct balance of excitation and inhibition in an interareal feedforward and feedback circuit of mouse visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 33, 17373–17384. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2515-13.2013
- Yotsumoto, Y., Watanabe, T., Sasaki, Y., 2008. Different Dynamics of Performance and Brain Activation in the Time Course of Perceptual Learning. Neuron 57, 827–833. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2008.02.034
- Yu, Q., Zhang, P., Qiu, J., Fang, F., 2016. Perceptual Learning of Contrast Detection in the Human Lateral Geniculate Nucleus. Curr. Biol. 26, 3176–3182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.09.034
- Zhang, G.L., Li, H., Song, Y., Yu, C., 2015. ERP C1 is top-down modulated by orientation perceptual learning. J. Vis. 15, 8–8. https://doi.org/10.1167/15.10.8
- Zhang, J.Y., Yang, Y.X., 2014. Perceptual learning of motion direction discrimination transfers to an opposite direction with TPE training. Vision Res. 99, 93–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2013.10.011

- Zhang, J.Y., Zhang, G.L., Xiao, L.Q., Klein, S.A., Levi, D.M., Yu, C., 2010. Rule-Based Learning Explains Visual Perceptual Learning and Its Specificity and Transfer. J. Neurosci. 30, 12323. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0704-10.2010
- Zhou, H., Desimone, R., 2011. Feature-based attention in the frontal eye field and area V4 during visual search. Neuron 70, 1205–1217. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2011.04.032
- Zingg, B., Hintiryan, H., Gou, L., Song, M.Y., Bay, M., Bienkowski, M.S., Foster, N.N., Yamashita, S., Bowman, I., Toga, A.W., Dong, H.W., 2014. Neural networks of the mouse neocortex. Cell 156, 1096–1111. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2014.02.023
- Zohary, E., Celebrini, S., Britten, K.H., Newsome, W.T., 1994. Neuronal Plasticity That Underlies Improvement in Perceptual Performance. Science (80-.). 263, 1289–1292. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.8122114

Appendix A:

vPL induces long-lasting recovery of visual acuity, visual depth perception abilities and binocular matching in adult amblyopic rats

In recent years, there has been significant processes in applying vPL-based treatments to improve general human conditions (Deveau et al., 2013). In older subjects, PL can be used to improve general perceptual performance or to counteract vision reduction due to age-related macular degeneration. Consistently, five days of training on feature search task can elicit long-lasting visual improvements in subjects with severe to profound low visual impairments spanning from glaucoma to retinitis pigmentosa (Liu et al., 2007).

Known that PL impacts on neuronal plasticity potentiating those cortical connections that are active during practice, this implicit form of learning has been exploited to promote recovery from neuropathological conditions correlated to defective brain connectivity. A number of vPL-based treatments can indeed lead to better visual outcomes in individuals affected by cortical blindness following tumors, stroke, trauma, or infections (Deveau et al., 2013). In vision research, the potential therapeutic application of vPL has been extensively investigated in amblyopic subjects (Bonaccorsi et al., 2014). Amblyopia is the prevalent monocular impairment with an incidence of 1–5% in the world human population (Holmes and Clarke, 2006). A central physiological mechanism in amblyopia is considered the inter-ocular suppression, which is the empowering of the inputs coming from the apparently healthy eye at the expense of those coming from the amblyopic eye (Antonini et al., 1999). This suppression is evident at the level of the primary visual cortex and appears to be mediated by the inhibitory circuitry (Sengpiel et al., 2005). Amblyopia, if not promptly treated during childhood, leads to severe visual impairments including loss of visual acuity and defective stereopsis. Occlusion

therapy, i.e., the temporary exclusion of the healthy eye from visual activity by means of an eye patch, completely reverses amblyopia when performed during the critical period for binocular vision (Loudon and Simonsz, 2005). Nevertheless, amblyopia is an almost untreatable disease in adulthood. The occlusion therapy is indeed completely ineffective in adult subjects due to the dramatic decline in cortical plasticity caused by the maturation of different plasticity-limiting factors as the GABAergic and the cholinergic systems (Hensch et al., 1998; Morishita et al., 2010). Remarkably, engagement in subtle visual discrimination tasks such as those associated with vPL can promote visual function recovery in adult amblyopic subjects (Ding et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2008; Levi et al., 1997; Levi and Li, 2009; Levi and Polat, 1996; Li et al., 2007; Polat et al., 2004; Zhou et al., 2006). In the same context, engagement in active videogames has been shown to promote plasticity in adult subjects with amblyopia. Nonetheless, this promising vPL protocol has apparently limited effects in children (Holmes et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2016; Li et al., 2011).

Few studies have investigated the therapeutic effects of vPL in animal models of amblyopia. Amblyopia can indeed be artificially induced in animals depriving one eye of visual stimuli through a long-term lid suture. Notably, vPL practice with the amblyopic eye can promote recovery of visual functions in adult amblyopic rats. Despite the increasing evidence showing beneficial effects elicited by vPL practice, many open questions remain to be addressed. In particular, the experimental paradigms applied so far were based on a reverse occlusion approach in which the subjects are required to perform the vPL task with the amblyopic eye open and with the concomitant occlusion of the fellow eye (Baroncelli et al., 2012). Monocular approaches are not easily applicable to adult human subjects; moreover, in contrast to conventional occlusion therapies, binocular training procedures are particularly promising in adult amblyopic patients (Hess et al., 2014, 2010; Li et al., 2013). Additionally, very little is known about the effects of vPL on visual depth perception abilities. Finally, the long-term maintenance of visual function recovery after the end of vPL, has not been examined so far.

Here, I analyzed these still unsolved issues in adult amblyopic rats with binocular viewing conditions.

Materials and Methods

Animal Treatment

The experiments were conducted on Long-Evans black hooded rats, in accordance with the approved guidelines and regulations of Italian Ministry of Public Health. Animals were housed in a room with a temperature of 21°C and a 12-h light–dark cycle, with food and water available ad libitum.

Surgery and Experimental Procedures

Rats were anesthetized with zolazepam + tiletamine (Zoletil, 1 mg/kg) and monocular deprivation (MD) was performed through eyelid suture at postnatal day (P) 21. Lid margins were trimmed and sutured with 6-0 silk. A post-operative health check control was performed daily until complete cicatrization; subjects with spontaneous re-opening were excluded. At P70, the long-term deprived eye was re-opened under anesthesia using thin scissors. After reopening of the deprived eye, rats were divided in two groups according to the experimental protocol: vPL and control animals. A third group of naïve, age-matched animals was added as control group. In all conditions, the animals were maintained in standard housing conditions, consisting of $40 \times 25 \times 20$ cm cages (three animals per cage).
vPL Task

I used a modified version of the visual water box task (Prusky et al., 2000; Sale et al., 2011). Animals were trained to distinguish a low spatial frequency grating (reference grating, 0.116 c/deg) from a higher spatial frequency grating (test grating, 0.592 c/deg). When the animals achieved a level of \geq 80% of accuracy in at least three subsequent sessions (criterion level), the vPL protocol was started by gradually reducing the spatial frequency of the test grating. Thus, the test grating became progressively more similar to the reference grating. For each animal, a daily threshold was calculated as the average spatial frequency of the test grating that the rat was able to distinguish (at least 70% correct performance) from the reference grating within the different sessions. The vPL task ended when the animal performance reached a plateau (performance at a given spatial frequency of the test grating around 70% of correct choices for three consecutive days). A group of control animals (CTRL) was trained to distinguish the reference grating from a test grating whose spatial frequency was always maintained at the starting value of 0.592 c/deg (associative test). CTRL rats were matched to vPL animals in terms of overall swim time and training days in the water maze.

Assessment of Visual Functions

Visual Acuity

I used n = 7 vPL and n = 8 CTRL rats. I first measured visual acuity of the fellow eye (not deprived). Then, I measured visual acuity of the amblyopic eye (by temporary occlusion of the fellow eye) five times, i.e., immediately after eyelid reopening (at P70), immediately at the end of the perceptual learning or control task, and then at 30, 90, and 180 days past the end of the procedure. Visual acuity was measured using the visual water task (Prusky et al., 2000), which trains animals to first distinguish a low (0.1 c/deg) spatial frequency vertical grating from grey,

and then tests the limit of this ability at higher spatial frequencies. Once 80% accuracy was achieved, the limit of the discrimination was estimated by increasing the spatial frequency of the grating. Animals were trained 60 trials per day until the achievement of discrimination limit criteria (Prusky et al., 2000). Visual acuity was calculated as the spatial frequency corresponding to 70% of correct choices on the sigmoidal function fitting the psychometric function. During each session, the experimenter was blind to the experimental group.

Visual Depth Perception

To assess visual depth perception, I used n= 8 vPL and n= 6 CTRL rats. Visual depth perception was assessed as spontaneous exploration in the visual cliff apparatus, as previously described (Baroncelli et al., 2013; Sansevero et al., 2020, 2019). Briefly, the arena was divided into a shallow and a deep side. On the shallow side, a patterned floor was positioned immediately below the glass plate, while on the deep side the checked platform was moved to 29 cm below the glass plate. Each animal was placed on the shallow side, and the total time the rat spent exploring each side of the arena was automatically recorded by the Noldus EthoVision system. The trial ended after 5 minutes. The arena was cleaned between trials with an alcohol solution. An exploration index was calculated as follows: (ts-td)/ttot, where ts and td are, respectively, the time spent exploring the shallow side and the deep side of the arena, and ttot is the total time of the test procedure. Each animal was tested only once.

In vivo Electrophysiology

Electrophysiological recordings were performed as previously described (Baroncelli et al., 2016; Mazziotti et al., 2017; Sansevero et al., 2020). Rats were anesthetized with i.p. injection of urethane (1.4 g/ kg, i.p., 20% in saline; Sigma-Aldrich) and placed on a stereotaxic frame, with the body temperature maintained at 37° C. A craniotomy was performed over the binocular visual cortex (4.8–5.2 mm lateral to lambda) and the dura mater was removed. The two eyes

were fixed and kept open by means of adjustable metal rings surrounding the external portion of the eye bulb. An electrode (2×2-tet-3 mm-150–150-121-A16-15, Neuronexus Technologies) was lowered into the cortex to record local field potentials and single-unit activity. Signals were acquired using a 16 channels Neuralynx device and data analysis was performed using a custom MATLAB software. Visual stimuli were generated in MATLAB using Psychophysics Toolbox extension and displayed, with gamma correction, on a monitor (Sony Trinitron G500, 60 Hz refresh rate, 32 cd m^{-2} mean luminance) placed 20 cm in front of the animal. For visual evoked potentials (VEPs), extracellular signal was filtered from 0.1 to 275 Hz and sampled at 20 kHz. VEPs in response to sinusoidal wave patterns with a spatial frequency of 0.03 c/deg and abrupt phase inversion (0.5 Hz temporal period), were evaluated in the time domain by measuring the peak-to-baseline amplitude and latency. VEPs were acquired using the responses coming only from the tetrode in the upright position inside the inserted probe (responses from the four contact points were averaged together), at 100 µm of depth first, and then at 400 µm, corresponding to layers I, III, and IV, respectively. Computer controlled mechanical shutters were used to alternatively close the two eyes. Visual acuity was obtained by extrapolation to zero amplitude of the linear regression through the data points in a curve where VEP amplitude was plotted against log spatial frequency. Ocular dominance was measured by calculating the contralateral to ipsilateral VEP ratio (C/I ratio), i.e., the ratio of VEP amplitudes recorded by stimulating the eye contralateral and ipsilateral, respectively, to the visual cortex where the recording is performed. Recordings were performed only from the visual cortex contralateral to the previously deprived eye (amblyopic eye). During recording through one eye, the other was occluded by an automatic black shutter. The C/I VEP ratios obtained at the two depths did not differ between each other and have been averaged together. For single-unit recordings, extracellular signal was filtered from 0.6 to 9 kHz and sampled at 30.3 kHz. Only cells with receptive fields within 20° from the vertical meridian were included in our sample. Spiking

events were detected online by voltage threshold crossing and waveforms of 1 ms were acquired around the time of threshold crossing. To improve single unit isolation, recordings from groups of four neighboring sites (tetrode) were linked, so that each spike was composed by four waveforms. Data were loaded on the Offline Sorter software (Plexon), and a principal component analysis was performed to score spikes with a high degree of similarity in a 3D feature space. Waveforms from each electrode of the tetrodes were processed together to improve isolation. Clusters were progressively defined using convex hulls and then recalculating principal component analysis. Quality of separation was determined based on the following criteria: (1) during manual clusterization with convex hulls, raw waveforms in the clusters were visually inspected to check the uniformity of single waveforms; (2) clusters contained < 0.1% of spikes within a 1.0 ms interspike interval; (3) auto- and cross-correlograms of the clusters were also inspected to reveal if the cluster contained more than a single unit or if several clusters contained spikes of the same unit; and (4) the peak amplitude of a unit remained stable over the entire recording session. Units were included in the sample for analysis of tuning properties when they had an average peak firing rate, across trials of the optimal stimulus for the dominant eye, of > 0.5 Hz. Drifting sinusoidal gratings were used as visual stimuli (1.5 s duration, temporal frequency of 2 Hz, 12 different orientations with a step of 30°, 3 spatial frequencies: 0.02, 0.04, 0.08 c/deg). Stimulation was repeated five times per eye, with stimulus conditions randomly interleaved, and two grey blank conditions (mean luminance) were included in all stimuli sets to estimate the spontaneous firing rate. The average spontaneous rate for each unit was calculated by averaging the rate over all blank condition presentations. Responses at each orientation and spatial frequency were calculated by averaging the spike rate during the 1.5 s presentation and subtracting the spontaneous rate. The preferred stimulus was determined finding the combination of spatial frequency and orientation that maximize the response, independently for each eye. Orientation tuning curves were constructed for the spatial frequency that gave maximal response at this orientation. Given this fixed preferred orientation (OPref), the tuning curve was fitted as the sum of two Gaussians centered on OPref and OPref + π , of different amplitudes but equal width, with a constant baseline. From this fit, I calculated an orientation selectivity index (OSI) representing the ratio of the tuned versus untuned components of the response, and the width of the tuned component. OSI was calculated as follows: (respOPref - respOOrtho)/(respOPref + respOOrtho), where resp is the maximal response evoked by visual stimulation and OOrtho is the orientation orthogonal to the preferred one. Tuning width is the half-width at half-maximum of the principal gaussian. In addition, I also calculated a direction selectivity index (DSI), as follows: (respOPref respOOppo)/(respPref + respOppo). The difference in preferred orientation between the two eyes (binocular matching, Δ O) was calculated by subtracting ipsilateral OPref from contralateral OPref along the 180° cycle.

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analysis was done using SigmaStat Software. Data were tested for normality before running statistical tests; parametric tests were run on normally distributed data and, in case normality test failed, non-parametric tests were performed as appropriate. Differences between two independent groups were assessed with a two-tailed t-test; differences between two dependent groups (e.g., visual acuity of the deprived and fellow eyes in the same animals) were assessed with a two-tailed paired t-test. One-way ANOVA, One-way RM ANOVA, and Two-way RM ANOVA, followed by Holm-Sidak multiple comparison procedure, were used to compare normally distributed data belonging to more groups. One-way ANOVA on ranks, followed by Dunn's method or Tukey test, were performed to compare normally distributed data belonging to more than two groups. Level of significance was p < 0.05, unless otherwise

specified. The size of biological replicates is indicated by the n numbers in the various experimental sections.

Results

The effects of vPL on visual functions were investigating by assessing visual abilities in adult rats subjected to long-term monocular visual deprivation started at the peak of the CP for plasticity (Postnatal day 21, P21), and then exposed, after reopening of the previously deprived eye at 2 months of age, to a forced-choice vPL task performed in binocular sight conditions (vPL rats). Animals were required to distinguish between two vertical gratings differing only for their spatial frequency (Fig. A1a, b), with a fixed low spatial frequency reference grating (0.116 c/deg), and a higher spatial frequency test grating (0.592 c/deg). When the animals achieved a level of \geq 80% of accuracy in at least three subsequent sessions (criterion level), the vPL protocol was started by gradually reducing the spatial frequency of the test grating (incremental phase). The performance of vPL rats was compared with that of control (CTRL) rats exposed to a simplified version of the same task, in which the incremental phase was lacking. vPL rats displayed a robust perceptual improvement, as evidenced by the progressive reduction in the perceived spatial frequency difference between the two gratings across the learning days (Fig. A1c, d) (One-way RM ANOVA on ranks p < 0.001).



Figure A1. Visual perceptual learning in adult amblyopic rats. (A) A modified version of the visual water box task was used to perform vPL. (B) Mean performance in distinguishing a test grating of 0.592 c/deg from the standard grating (0.116 c/deg) across the training sessions. All animals (both vPL and CTRL rats) have been pulled together. The increase in the percentage of correct choices with sessions is significant (One-way RM ANOVA on ranks p <0.001). (C) Improvement of discrimination threshold in vPL rats involved in the visual discrimination task. The threshold, calculated as the minimum spatial frequency difference between the reference and the test gratings discriminated, decreases significantly with the training days (One-way RM ANOVA on ranks p <0.001). (D) The performance of CTRL animals involved in a discrimination task lacking the incremental component remained stable across the training days*Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.

The impact of vPL on visual function recovery was initially assessed by measuring visual acuity (Fig. A2a), using the visual water box task (Prusky et al., 2000). Using this task longitudinally in the same individuals, I measured visual acuity through the previously deprived eve five times: immediately before treatment, immediately at the end of vPL, and at three additional follow-ups (1, 3, and 6 months past the end of the treatment). A complete visual acuity recovery was evident in vPL animals (n = 7) (amblyopic eye: 1.03 ± 0.06 c/deg; fellow eye: 1.00 ± 0.05 c/deg), but not in CTRL rats (n = 8; amblyopic eye: 0.66 ± 0.01 c/deg; fellow eye: 0.99 ± 0.02 c/deg) (Two-way RM ANOVA, treatment × time F = 78,526, DF = 1, Holm-Sidak method, p = 0.297 for vPL rats, p < 0.001 for CTR rats) (Fig. A2a). Notably, visual acuity recovery was long-lasting being maintained at all the time points tested beyond the end of the vPL procedure (Two-way RM ANOVA on ranks, Holm-Sidak method, post-treatment vs. 1 month after treatment, p = 0.817; post-treatment vs. 3 months, p = 0.095; post-treatment vs. 6 months, p = 0.958) (Fig. A2a). After vPL, the visual acuity measured in the formerly amblyopic eye of vPL animals was not significantly different from that of an additional group of non-deprived and untreated rats (naïve animals), while both were significantly higher than visual acuity values measured in CTRL rats (naïve, 0.95 ± 0.03 c/deg; One-way ANOVA, F = 32.783, DF = 2, Holm-Sidak method, p = 0.143, p < 0.001, p < 0.001, respectively).

Visual depth perception abilities were then assessed using the visual cliff task, which exploits the spontaneous tendency of rodents to avoid the deep side of a visual cliff (Fig. A2b). Discrimination between the deep and the shallow side of the arena requires an intact binocular vision. Rats with either acute monocular occlusion or amblyopia are known to display no preference for the shallow side, as rats with binocular vision do (Baroncelli et al., 2013). Accordingly, CTRL rats were impaired in their visual depth perception, and showed no preference for the shallow side of the arena (n = 6; exploration index = 0.26 ± 0.07). In contrast,



Figure A2. vPL induces recovery of visual functions. (A) Top panel: schematic diagram of the protocol. Left panel: visual acuity through the long-term deprived and the fellow eve was measured using the visual water box task; example of sigmoidal extrapolations of psychometric curves used to calculate visual acuity are also reported. Right panel: visual acuity of the previously deprived eye was significantly different from that of the fellow eye in CTRL rats (Two-way RM ANOVA, p<0.001), but not in vPL animals (p=0.297). Two-way RM ANOVA on ranks revealed that, in vPL rats, visual acuity of the previously deprived eye immediately after the end of the perceptual learning task was significantly increased with respect to that measured before treatment (p < 0.001), and remained unaltered 30, 90, and 180 days after the end of the treatment (p = 0.817, p = 0.095 and p = 0.958, respectively). In contrast, the visual acuity of the long-term deprived eye did not change throughout the study in CTRL rats (Twoway RM ANOVA on ranks with Holm-Sidak method, pre-treatment vs. post-treatment, p=0.999; pre-treatment vs. 1 month after treatment, p=0.982; pre-treatment vs. 3 months, p=0.964 and pre-treatment vs. 6 months, p=0.997). (B) Top panel: schematic diagram of the protocol. Left panel: visual depth perception was assessed using the visual cliff task, as the exploration preference for the shallow and depth side of the arena. Right panel: one-way ANOVA showed a significant preference for the shallow side in vPL animals, which exhibited an exploration index statistically higher than that of CTRL rats at all time-points (Holm-Sidak method, p<0.05). All animals were tested after restoration of binocular vision. *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m..

vPL rats (n = 8) showed a clear preference for the shallow side, with an exploration index (0.51 \pm 0.03) significantly higher than that of CTRL rats (Fig. A2b), but not significantly different from that of naïve rats (n = 7; 0.54 \pm 0.09) (One-way ANOVA, between groups F = 4.329, DF = 2, Holm-Sidak method, p = 0.041, p = 0.046, p = 0.728, respectively). Consistently with the results of visual acuity, recovery of visual depth perception abilities in vPL rats were long-lasting, persisting for the entire 3-month period of follow-up analysis (Fig. A2b). (Two-way repeated measure ANOVA, F = 1.035, DF = 2, Holm-Sidak method, time among vPL, pre-treatment vs. post-treatment, p = 0.021; pre-treatment vs. 3 months, p = 0.025; post-treatment vs. 3 months, p = 0.801).

In separate groups of animals, in vivo electrophysiology was used to monitor visual evoked potentials (VEPs) within the primary visual cortex immediately after the end of the vPL procedure (Figure 3A). In CTRL rats (n = 5), visual acuity of the deprived eye remained significantly lower (0.63 \pm 0.02 c/deg) with respect to the fellow eye (0.91 \pm 0.03 c/deg) (Twoway RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, F = 23.468, DF = 2, p < 0.001) (Fig. A3b). In contrast, no difference could be found between visual acuity values of the previously deprived vs. the fellow eye in both vPL rats (n = 5, contralateral visual acuity: 0.84 ± 0.02 c/deg; ipsilateral visual acuity: 0.84 ± 0.03 c/deg; p = 0.370; Fig. A3b), and in naïve animals (n = 5, contralateral visual acuity: 0.88 ± 0.02 c/deg; ipsilateral visual acuity: 0.94 ± 0.03 c/deg; p = 0.118). Moreover, visual acuity in the formerly amblyopic eye of vPL rats did not significantly differ from that of naïve animals, while it was significantly higher than that of CTRL rats (Fig. A3b) (p = 0.433 and p < 0.001, respectively). Ocular dominance was measured by computing the contralateral to ipsilateral (C/I) VEP ratio in response to a low spatial frequency grating (0.1 c/deg). In CTRL rats (n = 5), the C/I VEP ratio remained significantly lower than in naïve rats (n = 5) C/I VEP ratio in CTRL rats = 1.14 ± 0.2 , in naïve rats 2.4 ± 0.17 , (One-way ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, p = 0.026), indicating the occurrence of a severe OD deficit (Fig. A3c). In contrast, vPL rats (n = 5) had a C/I VEP ratio of 2.32 ± 0.41 , significantly higher than that of CTRL rats (One-way ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, p = 0.025), but not significantly different from that of naïve rats (n = 5; C/I VEP ratio = 2.4 ± 0.17 ; p = 0.847). Accordingly, VEPs average amplitude was higher for the contralateral eye with respect of the ipsilateral one in both naïve and vPL rats (Fig. A3d,e) (Two-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, F = 27.261, DF = 2; Naïve: contra = $231.22 \pm 44.11 \mu$ V, ipsi = $100.38 \pm 19.32 \mu$ V; vPL: contra = $235.89 \pm 64.1 \mu$ V, ipsi = $132.96 \pm 45.97 \pm$ V; p < 0.01 and p = 0.004, respectively); no difference was instead observed between the potentials of contralateral and ipsilateral eye in CTRL animals (contra = $179.43 \pm 48.33 \mu$ V, ipsi = $152.49 \pm 30.99 \mu$ V, p = 0.369). No difference was instead observed for VEPs latencies across the different experimental groups (Two-way RM ANOVA, F = 0.609, DF = 2, p = 0.560 for the factor treatment and p = 0.230 for the factor eye, without any interaction, p = 0.881).

Visual deprivation during the CP may permanently compromise the matching of orientation preferences through the two eyes in individual cortical neurons; a fundamental step for the development of binocular vision (Levine et al., 2017). Single units were recorded (Mazziotti et al., 2017) to investigate whether the binocular properties of visual cortical neurons were affected in amblyopic animals (CTRL rats), and whether the recovery of visual depth perception abilities induced by vPL was accompanied by a rescue of these binocular properties. Single units were recorded in anesthetized animals in response to drifting sinusoidal gratings that varied in orientation and spatial frequencies. The distributions of single unit binocular matching of orientation preference (Δ O) were then compared in vPL or CTRL rats, using the same animals previously subjected to the behavioral visual cliff analysis. In naïve animals, the majority of cells displayed a Δ O around 0 deg (central bin is $-12.8^{\circ} < 10 < 12.8^{\circ}$; kurtosis = 0.63, Fig. A4a). CTRL rats instead displayed a decreased kurtosis (kurtosis = -1.08) with

respect to naïve animals. Kurtosis levels were higher in vPL rats with respect to CTRL animals (kurtosis = -0.77) (Fig. A4a), with a ΔO distribution very similar to that of naïve animals. Moreover, the averages of ΔO absolute values ($|\Delta O|$) were compared among the three experimental groups (Fig. A4b). CTRL rats displayed a higher $|\Delta O|$ (46.70° ± 2.16°) than both naïve $(32.68^{\circ} \pm 2.1^{\circ})$ and vPL animals $(30.77^{\circ} \pm 1^{\circ})$ (One way ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, F = 22.298, p < 0.001 and p < 0.001, respectively). No difference was observed between Naïve and vPL rats (p = 0.498). Equal variance of $|\Delta O|$ did not change across the three groups, either when computed on the average values of the subjects (F-test, p = 0.422), or when computed for all cells in the three different groups (Levene test, p = 0.115). To rule out the possibility that these effects at the level of ΔO were due to any change in terms of monocular selectivity to distinct features of the visual stimulus (orientation, direction), or to changes in terms of spontaneous activity, the orientation selectivity index (OSI), the direction selectivity index (DSI) and levels of spontaneous activity in the two eyes were measured in all three experimental groups. No difference was found among the three groups of animals in either OSI, DSI or spontaneous activity (Fig. A4c) (Two-way RM ANOVA, Holm Sidak method, DF = 2, F = 1.075, p = 0.357; F = 0.682, p = 0.515; F = 0.199, p = 0.821, respectively). Having shown both a behavioral effect on visual depth perception abilities using the visual cliff task and a rescue of ΔO distribution in single unit recordings from the primary visual cortex, I measured the relationship between these changes. For each vPL or CTRL subject used to record binocular matching, the mean $|\Delta O|$ between the two eyes for all single units analyzed at the preferred grating orientation was correlated with the exploration index in the visual cliff past the end of the behavioral procedure. The mean $|\Delta O|$ values correlated significantly with the visual cliff exploration index (Pearson r = -0.651, 95% confidence intervals -0.9080 to -0.03466, R squared = 0.4226, p = 0.0419, Fig. A5). This correlation indicates that the better the binocular

matching of orientation preference, the greater the visual depth perception abilities, suggesting a causal link between the two measures.

Taken together, these results show that vPL performed under binocular vision can induce a marked and enduring recovery of visual acuity, visual depth perception abilities and binocular matching in adult amblyopic rats.



Figure A3. (A) Schematic diagram of the protocol. (B) Electrophysiological recordings of visual evoked potentials form the primary visual cortex. In CTRL rats, visual acuity of the deprived eye remained significantly lower with respect to the other eye (One-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, p < 0.001); in contrast, a full visual acuity recovery was achieved by vPL rats (p < 0.001) with values not different from those of naïve animals (p = 0.433). (C) Ocular dominance was assessed through the C/I VEP ratio in response to a low spatial frequency grating. The C/I VEP ratio was significantly higher in vPL than in CTRL rats (One-way ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, p = 0.025), but not different from that of naïve rats (p = 0.847). Error bars indicate s.e.m.; * indicates statistical significance. (D) Accordingly with the C/I ratio, the average amplitude of VEPs was higher for the contralateral eye with respect of the ipsilateral one, in both Naïve and vPL rats (Two-way RM ANOVA, p < 0.01 and p = 0.004, respectively); no difference was instead observed between the potentials of contralateral and ipsilateral eye in CTRL animals (p = 0.369). (E) No difference was observed for VEPs latencies across the different experimental groups (Two-way RM ANOVA, p = 0.560 for the factor treatment and p = 0.230 for the factor eye, without any interaction, p = 0.881). *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.



Figure A4. (A) Distributions of ΔO within the three experimental groups. (B) Comparison between average | ΔO | for the different groups; CRTL rats displayed higher | ΔO | in comparison with both vPL and Naïve animals (One-way ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, p < 0.001 and p < 0.001, in both cases). Interestingly, no difference was observed between naïve and vPL rats (p = 0.498). (C) Assessment of spontaneous discharge, direction, and orientation selectivity in V1. No difference was found in either the spontaneous discharge, the orientation selectivity index (OSI), or the direction selectivity index DSI among the three groups of animals (Two-way RM ANOVA, Holm-Sidak method, DF = 2, F = 1.075, p = 0.357; F = 0.682, p = 0.515; F = 0.199, p = 0.821, respectively). *Statistical significance. Error bars, s.e.m.



Figure A5. Significative correlation between $|\Delta 0|$ and visual cliff scores suggests a causal link between binocular matching of orientation preference and depth perception abilities (Pearson r = -0.651, 95% confidence intervals -0.9080 to -0.03466, R squared = 0.4226, p = 0.0419).

Discussion

Here, I reported that adult amblyopic rats subjected to vPL show a marked long-term recovery of visual acuity Indeed, the visual acuity recovery effect induced by vPL persisted for at least 6 months. This result appears particularly promising for clinical application to human patients, given that it has been estimated that a day of a rat's life is equivalent to 34.8 human days (Sengupta, 2013). No recovery was instead found in control rats that only learned to discriminate a reference grating from a test grating that was always maintained at its initial spatial frequency, suggesting that the incremental practice is essential for the capability of visual learning to promote plasticity and visual function recovery.

Previously, similar effects have been reported in rats subjected to the vPL task under a monocular condition (Baroncelli et al., 2012). The monocular protocol clearly maximizes the use of the amblyopic eye, but it is limited in terms of application to human patients due to potentially relevant risks (Hess and Thompson, 2015; Levi et al., 2015). Indeed, an increasing consensus is raising about the need to understand the cellular bases of visual improvements promoted by dichoptic therapies targeting binocular functions, such as videogames (Hess et al., 2011; Li et al., 2013) or passive dichoptic video viewing (Li et al., 2015b, 2015a). In this field, the results here reported indicate a strong beneficial effect of vPL when performed without eye occlusion procedures encouraging further studies based on binocular stimulation in adult amblyopic subjects. As a note of caution, however, it should be noted that the monocular deprivation approach used in this study simulates only deprivation human amblyopia, but not strabismic or refractive amblyopia, for which further studies in animal models are needed to assess the impact of vPL.

Notably, the results obtained at the behavioral levels were fully confirmed by the electrophysiological analysis of VEPs, the gold standard procedure for visual acuity assessment (Campbell et al., 1973; Campbell and Maffei, 1970; Hamilton et al., 2021; Ridder and Nusinowitz, 2006). VEPs recordings were also used to measure ocular dominance by computing the C/I VEP ratio, a fundamental parameter strongly affected in amblyopic subjects (Frenkel and Bear, 2004).

I could not find any effect of vPL on monocular OSI or DSI. This may be dependent on the difference between visual acuity and orientation/direction selectivity in terms of their dependence on visual experience during development. While selectivity of the primary visual cortex for spatial frequencies strongly depends on postnatal visual experience (Prusky et al., 2000), the orientation/direction preference is established just after eye-opening, independently of visual experience (Buisseret and Imbert, 1976; Fregnac and Imbert, 1984; Gödecke and Bonhoeffer, 1996; Thompson et al., 2008; Wiesel, 1982; Wiesel and Hubel, 1974). Thus, longterm monocular deprivation started at the peak of the critical period was likely to strongly affect visual acuity, without exerting any effect on monocular OSI and DSI. Therefore, exposure of amblyopic animals to vPL might have improved visual acuity, leaving unaltered OSI and DSI.

vPL also induced long-term recovery of visual depth perception abilities. This could have remarkable repercussion on the potential translational interest of this research. Deficits in stereopsis indeed constitute a relevant impediment for everyday life activities in amblyopic subjects (Levi et al., 2015; Webber and Wood, 2005). The improvement in the visual cliff test induced by vPL was unlikely to be dependent on an improvement of monocular functions, like visual acuity. It has been previously shown, indeed, that naïve adult rats with one eye occluded but with normal vision are severely impaired in performing the same visual cliff task used in our manuscript (Baroncelli et al., 2013). Thus, monocular cues are not sufficient for a proper performance in the visual cliff task, even when the used eye is completely normal. Moreover, I did not find any difference in terms of monocular selectivity for direction or orientation among the three groups of animals. Lastly, the visual stimuli presented in the visual cliff were of very low spatial frequency, thus being fully perceivable also by amblyopic animals.

I also provide evidence that long-term monocular deprivation was associated with altered binocular matching properties for primary visual neurons, and that vPL, which is able to favor recovery of visual depth perception, was also accompanied by normalization of binocular matching in the primary visual cortex of amblyopic animals. Thus, the obtained results in favor of a direct link between the recovery of visual depth perception abilities assessed at the behavioral level, and normalization of binocular matching of orientation preference. The current study therefore suggests that rescue of binocular matching might be a critical mechanism underlying the beneficial effects of vPL on visual depth perception.

At the visual cortical circuit level, other active training procedure, like voluntary physical exercise, are known to have an impact on GABAergic neural connections, with a selective and differential regulation in the activity of distinct sub-populations of interneurons (Fu et al., 2014; Sansevero et al., 2020). Specifically, amblyopia has been linked to increased numbers of active somatostatin positive interneurons (SOM +), without any detectable effect on either vasointestinal protein (VIP +) or parvalbumin positive cells. In contrast, physical exercise was associated with both a specific increase of active VIP + cells, and a restoration to basal numbers of active SOM + interneurons, in agreement with the model put forward by Stryker and colleagues (Stryker, 2014). Further efforts are however needed to dissect the possible changes at the GABAergic circuit level induced by vPL in amblyopic animals.

To conclude, the obtained results demonstrate that vPL under binocular sight conditions is an effective non-invasive procedure able to elicit long-lasting recovery from amblyopia far beyond the closure of the critical period. These results could have a direct therapeutic impact on human health, promoting new treatment strategies for amblyopia and other still cureless neurodevelopmental disorders.

References

- Antonini, A., Fagiolini, M., Stryker, M.P., 1999. Anatomical correlates of functional plasticity in mouse visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 19, 4388–406.
- Baroncelli, L., Bonaccorsi, J., Milanese, M., Bonifacino, T., Giribaldi, F., Manno, I., Cenni, M.C., Berardi, N., Bonanno, G., Maffei, L., Sale, A., 2012. Enriched experience and recovery from amblyopia in adult rats: impact of motor, social and sensory components. Neuropharmacology 62, 2388–97.
- Baroncelli, L., Braschi, C., Maffei, L., 2013. Visual depth perception in normal and deprived rats: effects of environmental enrichment. Neuroscience 236, 313–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.01.036
- Baroncelli, L., Scali, M., Sansevero, G., Olimpico, F., Manno, I., Costa, M., Sale, A., 2016. Experience affects critical period plasticity in the visual cortex through an epigenetic regulation of histone post-translational modifications. J. Neurosci. 36, 3430–3440. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1787-15.2016
- Bonaccorsi, J., Berardi, N., Sale, A., 2014. Treatment of amblyopia in the adult: insights from a new rodent model of visual perceptual learning. Front. Neural Circuits 8, 82. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2014.00082
- Buisseret, P., Imbert, M., 1976. Visual cortical cells: their developmental properties in normal and dark reared kittens. J. Physiol. 255, 511. https://doi.org/10.1113/JPHYSIOL.1976.SP011293
- Campbell, F.W., Maffei, L., 1970. Electrophysiological evidence for the existence of orientation and size detectors in the human visual system. J. Physiol. 207, 635. https://doi.org/10.1113/JPHYSIOL.1970.SP009085
- Campbell, F.W., Maffei, L., Piccolino, M., 1973. The contrast sensitivity of the cat. J. Physiol. 229, 719. https://doi.org/10.1113/JPHYSIOL.1973.SP010163
- Deveau, J., Lovcik, G., Seitz, A.R., 2013. The therapeutic benefits of perceptual learning. Curr. Trends Neurol. 7, 39–49.

- Ding, Y.-H., Li, J., Zhou, Y., Rafols, J., Clark, J., Ding, Y., 2006. Cerebral Angiogenesis and Expression of Angiogenic Factors in Aging Rats after Exercise. Curr. Neurovasc. Res. 3, 15–23. https://doi.org/10.2174/156720206775541787
- Fregnac, Y., Imbert, M., 1984. Development of neuronal selectivity in primary visual cortex of cat. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1984.64.1.325 64, 325–434. https://doi.org/10.1152/PHYSREV.1984.64.1.325
- Frenkel, M.Y., Bear, M.F., 2004. How monocular deprivation shifts ocular dominance in visual cortex of young mice. Neuron 44, 917–923. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2004.12.003
- Fu, Y., Tucciarone, J.M., Espinosa, J.S., Sheng, N., Darcy, D.P., Nicoll, R.A., Huang, Z.J., Stryker, M.P., 2014. A Cortical Circuit for Gain Control by Behavioral State. Cell 156, 1139–1152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.050
- Gödecke, I., Bonhoeffer, T., 1996. Development of identical orientation maps for two eyes without common visual experience. Nature 379, 251–254. https://doi.org/10.1038/379251A0
- Hamilton, R., Bach, M., Heinrich, S.P., Hoffmann, M.B., Odom, J.V., McCulloch, D.L., Thompson, D.A., 2021. VEP estimation of visual acuity: a systematic review. Doc. Ophthalmol. 142, 25. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10633-020-09770-3
- Hensch, T.K., Fagiolini, M., Mataga, N., Stryker, M.P., Baekkeskov, S., Kash, S.F., 1998. Local GABA circuit control of experience-dependent plasticity in developing visual cortex. Science 282, 1504–8. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.282.5393.1504
- Hess, R.F., Mansouri, B., Thompson, B., 2011. Restoration of binocular vision in amblyopia. Strabismus 19, 110–118. https://doi.org/10.3109/09273972.2011.600418
- Hess, R.F., Mansouri, B., Thompson, B., 2010. A binocular approach to treating amblyopia: antisuppression therapy. Optom. Vis. Sci. 87, 697–704. https://doi.org/10.1097/OPX.0B013E3181EA18E9
- Hess, R.F., Thompson, B., 2015. Amblyopia and the binocular approach to its therapy. Vision Res. 114, 4–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2015.02.009
- Hess, R.F., Thompson, B., Baker, D.H., 2014. Binocular vision in amblyopia: structure, suppression and plasticity. Ophthalmic Physiol. Opt. 34, 146–162. https://doi.org/10.1111/OPO.12123
- Holmes, J.M., Clarke, M.P., 2006. Amblyopia. Lancet 367, 1343–1351. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68581-4
- Holmes, J.M., Manh, V.M., Lazar, E.L., Beck, R.W., Birch, E.E., Kraker, R.T., Crouch, E.R., Erzurum, S.A., Khuddus, N., Summers, A.I., Wallace, D.K., Pediatric Eye Disease Investigator Group, 2016. Effect of a Binocular iPad Game vs Part-time Patching in Children Aged 5 to 12 Years With Amblyopia: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA

Ophthalmol. 134, 1391–1400. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2016.4262

- Huang, C.-B., Zhou, Y., Lu, Z.-L., 2008. Broad bandwidth of perceptual learning in the visual system of adults with anisometropic amblyopia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 4068–4073. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0800824105
- Kelly, K.R., Jost, R.M., Dao, L., Beauchamp, C.L., Leffler, J.N., Birch, E.E., 2016. Binocular iPad Game vs Patching for Treatment of Amblyopia in Children. JAMA Ophthalmol. 134, 1402. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2016.4224
- Levi, D.M., Knill, D.C., Bavelier, D., 2015. Stereopsis and amblyopia: A mini-review. Vision Res. 114, 17–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2015.01.002
- Levi, D.M., Li, R.W., 2009. Perceptual learning as a potential treatment for amblyopia: A mini-review. Vision Res. 49, 2535–2549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2009.02.010
- Levi, D.M., Polat, U., 1996. Neural plasticity in adults with amblyopia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 93, 6830–4.
- Levi, D.M., Polat, U., Hu, Y.S., 1997. Improvement in Vernier acuity in adults with amblyopia. Practice makes better. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 38, 1493–510.
- Li, J., Thompson, B., Deng, D., Chan, L.Y.L., Yu, M., Hess, R.F., 2013. Dichoptic training enables the adult amblyopic brain to learn. Curr. Biol. 23, R308–R309. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CUB.2013.01.059
- Li, R.W., Ngo, C., Nguyen, J., Levi, D.M., 2011. Video-game play induces plasticity in the visual system of adults with amblyopia. PLoS Biol. 9, e1001135. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001135
- Li, R.W., Provost, A., Levi, D.M., 2007. Extended Perceptual Learning Results in Substantial Recovery of Positional Acuity and Visual Acuity in Juvenile Amblyopia. Investig. Opthalmology Vis. Sci. 48, 5046. https://doi.org/10.1167/iovs.07-0324
- Li, S.L., Jost, R.M., Morale, S.E., De La Cruz, A., Dao, L., Stager, D., Birch, E.E., 2015a. Binocular iPad Treatment of Amblyopia for Lasting Improvement of Visual Acuity. JAMA Ophthalmol. 133, 479. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMAOPHTHALMOL.2014.5515
- Li, S.L., Reynaud, A., Hess, R.F., Wang, Y.Z., Jost, R.M., Morale, S.E., De La Cruz, A., Dao,
 L., Stager, D., Birch, E.E., 2015b. Dichoptic movie viewing treats childhood amblyopia.
 J. AAPOS 19, 401. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAPOS.2015.08.003
- Liu, L., Kuyk, T., Fuhr, P., 2007. Visual search training in subjects with severe to profound low vision. Vision Res. 47, 2627–2636. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2007.07.001
- Loudon, S.E., Simonsz, H.J., 2005. The History of the Treatment of Amblyopia. Strabismus 13, 93–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/09273970590949818

Mazziotti, R., Baroncelli, L., Ceglia, N., Chelini, G., Sala, G. Della, Magnan, C., Napoli, D.,

Putignano, E., Silingardi, D., Tola, J., Tognini, P., Arthur, J.S.C., Baldi, P., Pizzorusso, T., 2017. Mir-132/212 is required for maturation of binocular matching of orientation preference and depth perception. Nat. Commun. 8, 15488. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms15488

- Morishita, H., Miwa, J.M., Heintz, N., Hensch, T.K., 2010. Lynx1, a Cholinergic Brake, Limits Plasticity in Adult Visual Cortex. Science (80-.). 330, 1238–1240. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1195320
- Polat, U., Ma-Naim, T., Belkin, M., Sagi, D., 2004. Improving vision in adult amblyopia by perceptual learning. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 101, 6692–6697. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0401200101
- Prusky, G.T., West, P.W., Douglas, R.M., 2000. Behavioral assessment of visual acuity in mice and rats. Vision Res. 40, 2201–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0042-6989(00)00081-x
- Ridder, W.H., Nusinowitz, S., 2006. The visual evoked potential in the mouse—Origins and response characteristics. Vision Res. 46, 902–913. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.VISRES.2005.09.006
- Sale, A., De Pasquale, R., Bonaccorsi, J., Pietra, G., Olivieri, D., Berardi, N., Maffei, L., 2011. Visual perceptual learning induces long-term potentiation in the visual cortex. Neuroscience 172, 219–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.10.078
- Sansevero, G., Baroncelli, L., Scali, M., Sale, A., 2019. Intranasal BDNF administration promotes visual function recovery in adult amblyopic rats. Neuropharmacology 145, 114–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2018.02.006
- Sansevero, G., Torelli, C., Mazziotti, R., Consorti, A., Pizzorusso, T., Berardi, N., Sale, A., 2020. Running towards amblyopia recovery. Sci. Rep. 10, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69630-7
- Sengpiel, F., Jirmann, K.-U., Vorobyov, V., Eysel, U.T., 2005. Strabismic Suppression Is Mediated by Inhibitory Interactions in the Primary Visual Cortex. Cereb. Cortex 16, 1750–1758. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhj110
- Stryker, M.P., 2014. A neural circuit that controls cortical state, plasticity, and the gain of sensory responses in mouse. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 79, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2014.79.024927
- Thompson, B., Mansouri, B., Koski, L., Hess, R.F., 2008. Brain Plasticity in the Adult: Modulation of Function in Amblyopia with rTMS. Curr. Biol. 18, 1067–1071. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.06.052
- Webber, A.L., Wood, J., 2005. Amblyopia: Prevalence, natural history, functional effects and treatment. Clin. Exp. Optom. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1444-0938.2005.tb05102.x
- Wiesel, T.N., 1982. Postnatal development of the visual cortex and the influence of environment. Nat. 1982 2995884 299, 583–591. https://doi.org/10.1038/299583a0

- Wiesel, T.N., Hubel, D.H., 1974. Ordered arrangement of orientation columns in monkeys lacking visual experience. J. Comp. Neurol. 158, 307–318. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNE.901580306
- Zhou, Y., Huang, C., Xu, P., Tao, L., Qiu, Z., Li, X., Lu, Z.-L., 2006. Perceptual learning improves contrast sensitivity and visual acuity in adults with anisometropic amblyopia. Vision Res. 46, 739–750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.visres.2005.07.031

Appendix B:

Scientific production

-Articles in peer-reviewed journals

Sansevero G, <u>Consorti A</u>, Di Marco I, Terzibasi Tozzini E, Cellerino A, Sale A. Antioxidants prevent the effects of physical exercise on visual cortical plasticity. Cells 2023, 12(1), 48; <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cells12010048</u>

<u>Consorti A</u>, Sansevero G, Torelli C, Di Marco I, Berardi N and Sale A. Visual Perceptual Learning Induces Long-Lasting Recovery of Visual Acuity, Visual Depth Perception Abilities and Binocular Matching in Adult Amblyopic Rats. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 16:840708, (2022) https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2022.840708

<u>Consorti A</u>, Di Marco I, Sansevero G. Physical Exercise Modulates Brain Physiology Through a Network of Long- and Short-Range Cellular Interactions. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 14:710303, (2021)

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2021.710303

Sansevero G, Torelli C, Mazziotti R, <u>Consorti A</u>, Pizzorusso T, Berardi N, Sale A. Running towards amblyopia recovery. Sci Rep 10, 12661 (2020), <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69630-7</u>

<u>**Consorti** A</u>, Sansevero G, Torelli C, Berardi N, Sale A. From basic visual science to neurodevelopmental disorders: the voyage of environmental enrichment-like stimulation, Neural Plasticity vol. 2019, <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/5653180</u>

-Posters

<u>**Consorti** A</u>, Sansevero G, Di Marco I, Berardi N, Sale A. Visual perceptual learning in mice. Neuroscience 2022, November 12th-16th, San Diego. Poster Presentation.

Di Marco I, Sansevero G, <u>Consorti A</u>, Terzibasi Tozzini E, Cellerino A, Sale A. Antioxidants counteract the plastic effect of physical exercise in the adult primary visual cortex. BraYn 5th Edition, September 28th-30th 2022, Rome. <u>Consorti A</u>, Sansevero G, Di Marco I, Capecchi V, Novelli E, Berardi N, Sale A. Top-down influences and visual perceptual learning. BraYn 4th Edition, October 20th- 22nd 2021, Pisa. Poster Presentation.

<u>Consorti A</u>, Sansevero G, Torelli C, Di Marco I, Berardi N, Sale A. Active training promotes visual function recovery in adult amblyopic rats. BraYn 3rd Edition, November 25th-26th 2020, Web Conference. Poster Presentation.

Sansevero G, <u>Consorti A</u>, Di Marco I, Cellerino A, Sale A. Antioxidant supplementation and physical exercise: beyond the ordinary notion. BraYn 3rd Edition, November 25th-26th 2020, Web Conference.

Torelli C, Sansevero G, Mazziotti R, <u>Consorti A</u>, Cenni MC, Berardi N, Sale A. Active training promotes recovery of visual functions in adult amblyopic rats. Annual Retreat, Institute of Neuroscience, October 2nd-4th, Pisa